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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  
Good afternoon, and welcome to this hearing of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee on the state’s preparedness for public health threats.


First, I would like to thank all of our witnesses.  I realize that many of you are very busy and that you’ve come from various parts of the state, so I do appreciate your willingness to be here.  


I apologize for the absence of other members of the committee.  Members usually depart on Thursday afternoon and go back to their districts, but that does not mean that they will not be briefed by their able staff.  I thank Ms. Umino, who is a staff person to Senator Martha Escutia.  I believe there may be other staff persons joining us today, and we certainly will share with them the record of the committee.  So, I just wanted to alert that there’s no absence of interest in this issue.  It’s simply a bad scheduling time in the legislative schedule.


I’m particularly pleased. . . . oh, I am joined by a very, very good and loyal colleague who, even though he’s not on this committee, has taken a great and strong interest in public health.  And I’m going to allow him an opportunity—Senator Tom Torlakson—to say a few words after I complete my opening comments.


I’m particularly pleased that we have representation from local public health officers.  Again, I know how difficult it is for all of you to travel to Sacramento when there’s so many priorities in your own jurisdictions.  We took the advantage of timing this with your statewide meeting to allow us to hear from you, so it’s fortuitous for you but it’s, unfortunately, low attendance on the member part.  Nevertheless, there are staff here today, as I mentioned, that will be joining us, hopefully, even more.


As you know, my interest in this issue predates the September 11th reality on Americans’ consciousness today or what is the high profile stories on SARS and West Nile.  In fact, it was during my first year in the State Assembly in 1997 that the local health officers came to me appealing for support and leadership on one of their highest priorities.  The somehow nebulous and nuclear notion of building up the capacity of public health and infrastructure-building was a concept that I certainly quickly understood, and post-9/11 and post-SARS, it’s clear that my colleagues now understand all that hard work you have been doing for years, but it’s just put a different face on it.  So, the silver lining and all of the terrible tragedies that we’ve been facing is that people now know about the hard work you’ve been doing for years.


Since my introduction to this issue five years ago, I’ve authored, probably, six different bills and various budget strategies, and we’ve managed to slightly increase our state’s public health infrastructure to a measly $2 million.  But we’ve distributed a lot more than that in our federal funding.  These are components that I’m proud of; yet, I fear that we remain far from where we need to be as a state.  It’s been encouraging to see public health become a higher priority across the State of California, and, as we know, much of that is due to 9/11.


Along with the spread of SARS and West Nile virus, as well as 9/11, what we have now is an opportunity.  We have an opportunity to have long overdue dialogue on the state of our public health infrastructure; to recognize as a state that public health is a core component of public safety.  And I want to remind us all, as much as we may want to question whether that’s the most appropriate strategy, it is the world that we live in.  You, indeed, are part of those first responders under the world of post-9/11, and you ought to wear that mantle proudly as public health officers in your public health role title because you, indeed, are putting your lives many times at risk by responding to the public health demands.  And finally, to do a better job of protecting the health of Californians against, both, potential threats, including bioterrorism, and existing threats, including influenza, SARS, and West Nile, not to mention HIV, hepatitis C, TB, and others.


I would like to explain our format today, and many of you have been briefed well by my staff.  Our first panel is going to discuss the threat of infectious diseases, our capacity to respond to outbreaks, and any efforts we should take to improve our capabilities.  In addition, I would like to hear how the federal bioterrorism funds have been spent thus far in California.


We have a lot of panelists, so I just need to ask that all of our speakers be mindful of our possible time commitments.  Keep your testimony as brief as possible so that we can get through this agenda and allow time for discussion.


After the first panel, we will hear a brief presentation from the Little Hoover Commission on their report, recommending a reorganization of state government to improve the public health function.  Following that presentation, I would like to have a more informal discussion whereby you all offer any reaction you may have to their recommendations or, in the alternative, your own suggested reforms or strategies for improving public health in this state.


I’d also like to just mention that the committee will be holding additional hearings focused solely on the Little Hoover Commission report.  What I had hoped to do on this question about reorganization, highlighting and elevating, possibly, in a restructure of the Department of Health Services and other state functions, is to be able to elevate the importance and protect public health functions in the State of California.  But to do this based on one document and one study’s recommendations I think does disservice to your chosen careers.  My hope is to have a series of hearings in which we take the Little Hoover Commission document as a starting point and we look at other groups that we’ve asked to review that proposal and to look at a number of alternatives and take our time to go through a thoughtful review of, I think, a very important objective and function of the State of California.


So, those hearings will be sometime in the future.  Today we’re going to have a limited discussion of the Little Hoover Commission’s recommendations.  But I did want to mention the long-term hopes of this committee chair.


Let me now allow my colleague to say a few words and once again thank him publicly.  He is a great member and a great friend and I think keenly interested in this area and has been an ally in many of the proposals.  With that, I’d like to welcome Senator Torlakson and allow him to say a few words.


SENATOR TOM TORLAKSON:   Well, thank you, Chair Ortiz and Senator Ortiz and good friend.  We share a background of local government, so you know I spent some time on the board of supervisors where we worked directly in that field.  


I so much appreciate the chair’s outstanding leadership and long-term leadership in these areas of public health.  It’s so essential and so important, as she’s doing through this hearing, to bring to the fore these public health threats and understand that they’re a critical element to our state’s and our nation’s security, and your role and our role, together, is trying to find the resources to do the job even better or more effectively.  So, I’m with you.  I’m here to support your effort to look at where those challenges are, where the problems are to be solved, and what resources we need to bring to bear.  


The current lack of support and resources for public health is definitely a threat to our public safety, and it’s costly to operate the way we are without the full set of resources.  Obviously, the emerging diseases are a threat.  You referenced a larger look at how we do our health agenda for California, our health programs; a necessary look at preventative efforts and looking at chronic diseases.  This is also costing us a tremendous amount.  As we find proper support for the emerging diseases that this hearing is focused on, I think we’ll also be able to begin to find and address other long-term challenges in these other areas of chronic disease which are costing us so much—billions and billions associated with diabetes as an epidemic, as obesity is an epidemic.  These are draining on human potential, and they’re draining on business, local government, and schools.  


So, along with the national security efforts and the safety efforts of this targeted hearing, I thank you again for holding this and having the broader vision of how we would look at the governance structure within our various health services departments, local and state, and how we might be more effective in meeting these challenges for the future.  


So, thank you for your leadership and long-term support before any of this came to the forefront of what we needed to do in meeting these challenges.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for being someone who’s helped me move many of the policies.


I want to also acknowledge Senator Sheila Kuehl’s staff has joined us as well.  I thank you.


With that, I’m going to ask the panel to begin.  Let me just remind you to please make sure you identify yourself and state your title so we can have it for the record.


But welcome.  Good to see you, Dr. Reilly.


DR. KEVIN REILLY:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Senator Torlakson.


My name is Dr. Kevin Reilly.  I’m the deputy director for the Department of Health Services’ Prevention Services program.  Thank you for inviting me to testify regarding the state’s ability to respond to emerging infectious disease and public health threats.


I’d like to start by saying that California’s public health system continues to respond successfully to new and emerging threats and is making ongoing improvements to ensure the safety of our citizens.  


Since its inception in the late 19th century, the public health system has traditionally focused on preventing the spread of communicable disease and meeting basic public health expectations—public expectations—of safe water to drink, safe air to breathe, safe food to consume.  More recently, public health efforts have expanded to include environmental safety and disease prevention activities, health promotion endeavors, to promote longer and healthier lives.  Now, in addition to these responsibilities, public health programs are faced with the threat of intentional spread of disease: the specter of bioterrorism.  In response, California is moving forward on the all-hazards approach to ensure public health infrastructure can respond to emerging infectious diseases like SARS, while at the same time being prepared for potential biologic, chemical, or radiologic threats to our communities.


In your letter of invitation, you asked the department to address California’s readiness to address SARS, West Nile virus, influenza, bioterrorism, and other public health threats and emergencies.  In my testimony I’d like to initially address the overall public health preparedness the department is involved with, followed by an overview of the bioterrorism preparedness program that has significantly improved since the events of September 11, 2001, and I will finish with a discussion of our ability to respond to emerging infectious diseases based on that infrastructure support.


First and foremost, the department really works in close partnership with local, national, and international health officials and providers to protect the public’s health.  The department conducts a broad spectrum of public health programs and activities to monitor, control, and ultimately to prevent disease.  The department’s staff is often called upon to assist local health jurisdictions, especially when disease outbreaks or conditions cross over local health jurisdiction lines.  Critical functions that the department conducts includes:

· Surveillance of disease to monitor changing trends and outbreaks.  We receive and act on over 160,000 reportable conditions each year provided by local health jurisdictions that do the investigation and controls at the local level.  

· We get involved with the epidemiologic investigations of unusual disease cases and outbreaks throughout the state.  We respond to literally hundreds of those each year.

· Another primary function is public health laboratory diagnostics and reference and applied research in testing methodologies.  Our laboratories do over 4 million tests each year.  

· A comprehensive prevention control program to address specific disease issues, whether that be tuberculosis, sexually transmitted diseases, vaccine-preventable diseases, and food-borne illness.  

· We have development and publication of response plans, including things like the pandemic influenza plan, and education and training on critical public health issues.  

· We provide funding and assistance to local health jurisdictions.  An excellent example of that is the public health preparedness around bioterrorism, which I’ll speak of in one second.

· Finally, a very important function is emergency preparedness and response to address public health and license facility problems and needs as they arise around a disaster or emergency situation.  These efforts are complementary and coordinated with our medical care provision led by our sister agency, the Emergency Medical Services Authority.


In the aftermath of September 11th, 2001, and the subsequent recognition of the need for better preparation nationwide against the acts of terrorism that we witnessed that day, the federal government dramatically expanded funding to all fifty states and several key metropolitan areas, including Los Angeles County, to develop the expertise and infrastructure needed for public health and hospital assistance to address bioterrorism, infectious disease outbreaks, and other public health threats such as chemical, radiologic, or natural disasters.  As you know, the Department of Health Services is the lead agency in California for the administration of these federal bioterrorism preparedness programs.  


As part of the federal requirements for ensuring public health preparedness with these funds, the following areas must be addressed by the state:

· Preparedness planning and readiness assessment to build capacity to respond and allocate important public health resources and expertise within an emergency response structure.

· Surveillance and epidemiologic capacity.

· Biologic and chemical laboratory capacity to accurately identify and confirm diagnoses.

· Health alert network and information technology to rapidly inform our partners of information as it relates to public health protections.

· Risk communication and health information dissemination.

And finally,

· Public education and training for both our public health community as well as the provider community.


In the current year, California is receiving $95 million in federal public health funding from the Centers for Disease Control:  $24 million to Los Angeles County directly and over $70 million to the state.  Seventy-two percent of those funds are being allocated directly to local health jurisdictions for local capacity building.  In addition, California receives over $42 million, including $3.7 million to Los Angeles County directly, from the Health Resources and Services Administration to address hospital and healthcare delivery preparedness and readiness to respond to an event.  The department works very closely with the Emergency Medical Services Authority to implement the HRSA Bioterrorism Preparedness program, and my colleague, Dr. Jeff Rubin, will spend some time describing the first-year implementation in his presentation, I believe.


As I mentioned earlier, California’s bioterrorism and hospital preparedness programs have greatly improved state and local public health readiness to respond to bioterrorism events, outbreaks of infectious disease, and other emergencies.  I’d like to describe one or two successes very quickly.  


First of all, the establishment of a statewide Health Alert Network that allows immediate contact with all local health jurisdictions.  The network is being expanded locally to include law enforcement, first responders, hospitals, and private healthcare providers.  


We’ve developed 58 local bioterrorism preparedness plans with our local jurisdictions and the development of a statewide bioterrorism and surveillance epi plan, a hospital bioterrorism preparedness planning guide, and emergency response guidelines for public water systems and food safety systems.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Reilly, would you mind going back and repeating the numbers on the local plan on down?  How many local plans have been completed?


DR. REILLY:  Fifty-eight local jurisdictions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And all have completed their local response plans?


DR. REILLY:  Yes.  We have local response.  There may be one or two that we’re still working with.  I apologize, I don’t have that in front of me right now.  But we’ve been working closely with the local jurisdictions on completing those plans.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  And the other points after that, that you mentioned?


DR. REILLY:  We talked about some specific activities and developing a statewide bioterrorism surveillance and epidemiology plan.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where are we on the statewide plan?


DR. REILLY:  For surveillance and epidemiology?  That’s been in place for two years now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


DR. REILLY:  A hospital bioterrorism preparedness planning guide that was recently provided to local hospital jurisdictions and planning groups and emergency response preparedness guidelines for public water systems and for food producing facilities have been in place for more than two years now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  Thank you.


DR. REILLY:  We have initiated the California Electronic Laboratory Disease Alert and Response System to ensure standardized and rapid reporting of laboratory-based diagnostics to a centralized system.  We’ve started that system now.  


We have developed lab capacity, including the first Level 3 state laboratory, as well as 10 regional public health laboratories to provide a local response network of public health laboratory diagnostics in the state.


Successes include:

· Establishment of an extensive risk communication system to provide local health jurisdictions with public information materials in multiple languages.  (I’ll spend some time talking about examples of that.) 

· Development of a smallpox vaccination and response program.  Vaccination of over 1,800 persons, including personnel in many local health jurisdictions and hospitals and clinics.  

· Statewide assessment of hospital and clinic needs.  And drills and exercises to test our preparedness and response.


Although California continues to work to achieve complete preparedness, our tremendous progress is evident and has been recognized nationally.  Just last month California was identified by The Trust for America’s Health as one of three states in the nation most prepared to respond to a bioterrorism event.  The report highlights the critical advances that have been made since nine-one-one and the benefit of these improvements to the overall public health system.  The impact of these accomplishments has been proven recently during California’s response to SARS, West Nile virus, and influenza, and I’d like to spend just a minute or two talking about those responses.


Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome is a newly identified respiratory illness.  The World Health Organization first identified and issued a global alert in March 2003, soon after the first cases were identified in Hong Kong, Vietnam, and China.  The first reportable SARS case was identified in California on March 3rd of 2003, soon after the first identification internationally.


Initially, without a known cause for SARS, cases were broadly identified as any person with fever and with respiratory symptoms who had, in the ten days prior to onset of illness, traveled to one of the affected areas around the world where SARS was present or were in close contact with persons who had been diagnosed with SARS.  SARS-affected areas included Mainland China, Hong Kong, Hanoi, Singapore, Taiwan, and Toronto in Canada.  The broad definition included persons who may have had the same set of symptoms but caused by other respiratory agents; for instance, influenza virus.  Therefore, in California, as we worked up SARS suspected cases, we took advantage of the very aggressive viral and rickettsial disease laboratory capacity the state has to identify a number of different causative agents for patients who were suspected SARS cases.  We were able to tell families and physicians that this was not SARS in a number of cases.


Now, early in the epidemic, scientists identified a previously unrecognized virus in patients with SARS that proved to be the causative agent.  The main mode of transmission turned out to be close person-to-person contact.  When somebody sick with SARS sneezes or coughs, those droplets can contaminate objects or persons, and upon contact with the nose or eyes or throat, the opportunity for introducing into the body allows for infection.  Airborne and other means of transmission continue to be investigated.  We still are learning a lot about how SARS works.


More than 8,000 cases and over 770 cases of fatalities occurred in 2002-2003 worldwide.  A hundred and sixty-four cases were present in the United States; 40 in California.  We’re fortunate that none of those were fatal.  Nearly all California cases occurred amongst travelers coming in from areas hard hit by SARS.  Only three of these cases were household contacts or transmission between close contacts in California.  Very different from what happened in other portions of the world, there was no community-based spread in the United States of SARS or within healthcare facilities.


We believe that our recent efforts to enhance the state’s capacity to detect and respond to bioterrorism threats greatly enhanced our ability to respond to emerging threats such as SARS.  The department led a response to SARS in the state through a rapid public health response, including a surveillance of disease, epidemiology, laboratory sciences, infection control, and public information.  The department worked in very close partnership with CDC, with our local health jurisdictions, and healthcare providers throughout the state.  After SARS was first identified, the department activated the statewide Health Alert Network to provide timely information on SARS to local health jurisdictions.  We initiated a daily communication method with staff at CDC and deployed medical experts in epidemiology, disease control, infectious disease, and public health surveillance to coordinate that response to SARS in California.


The department and local health jurisdictions use rapid detection, rapid isolation, and infection control methods in hospitals and household settings for effective containment of SARS, and this is very important.  We worked closely with local health jurisdictions in ensuring that SARS patients were following isolation requests and isolation orders on the occasion.  We were also proactive in requesting from the federal Department of Transportation, CDC, and the World Health Organization strict and standardized screening measures for passengers boarding flights bound to California from SARS-affected areas.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Reilly?  I think you’ve well exceeded your five minutes.  I know you have important information, so if you could summarize it, I’d appreciate that.


DR. REILLY:  What I’d like to do is perhaps go ahead and allow others to present on the West Nile virus and present on influenza surveillance and finish up.  In closing, I’d like to reiterate that California has a strong public health system at both the state and local level, staffed by dedicated professionals that continue to respond effectively to numerous disease threats, including SARS, West Nile virus, influenza, and tuberculosis.  At the same time, the department continues national leadership in many other critical public health and prevention programs, including tobacco control, obesity prevention, physical activity, asthma management, and injury prevention.  While we thankfully have not experienced a biologic or chemical terrorism event, we have used the infrastructure built to address these threats to respond to other public health emergencies such as recent fires and earthquakes.  The federal bioterrorism program has provided new resources to strengthen our system.  Working closely with our federal, state, and local partners, and using the expertise of public and private organizations, I am confident California will further improve our public health system in the future.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your good work and the director’s good work and focus on public health.  I do appreciate it.


DR. REILLY:  Thank you, Senator.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Watson?


MR. RICHARD WATSON:  Dr. Reilly was kind enough to mention the Emergency Medical Services Authority, so if I may follow up on that.


I am Richard Watson, the interim director of the California Emergency Medical Services Authority.  That’s a rather odd title, given that I’ve been there almost seven years now.  However, before that I worked with some of you when I directed the county association some years ago.  And I do want to thank the Department of Health Services for all the good working relationships we’ve had:  Dr. Reilly and with Director Diana Bontá and before that with Director Kimberly Belshé.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now our secretary.


MR. WATSON:  That’s right.  Going from colleague to boss.


I’d like to first just tell you a little bit about our department and then have Jeff Rubin try to summarize a little bit what we’re doing about terrorism.


We are mandated by authorizing legislation and in the State Office of Emergency Services’ Administrative Order to prepare for and, if necessary, manage the state’s medical response to disaster.  In addition, the EMS Authority is responsible for developing effective standardized local and regional EMS systems throughout California.  This is accomplished through statewide leadership in policy and regulation development and standards guidance.  


The EMS Authority writes regulations for EMS prehospital personnel and licenses and disciplines EMT paramedics, develops guidelines establishing minimum standards for EMS systems, including trauma centers, poison control centers, and disaster medical service, and sets standards for first aid and CPR training for firefighters, peace officers, lifeguards, bus drivers, and day care center workers.  The actual implementation of the statewide approach is carried out under the medical and administrative coordination of 32 single and multicounty local EMS systems covering all of the 58 counties.  


The mission of the EMS Authority, and the local EMS agencies by extension, is to ensure quality patient care by administering an effective statewide system of coordinated emergency medical care, injury prevention, and disaster medical response.  To achieve this mission specifically, organized arrangements are implemented which provide for the personnel facilities and equipment for the effective and coordinated delivery in the EMS area of medical care services under emergency conditions.  The resource foundation of EMS consists of dispatch centers, ambulances, and hospitals.  In a disaster, that foundation is augmented by disaster medical assistance teams and other field medical resources.  The EMS organizational foundation encompasses training, coordination of interdependent resources, mutual aid, communications, the Incident Command System, and the state’s Standardized Emergency Management System.  


The EMS Authority provides medical resources to local governments in support of their disaster response.  This may include the identification, acquisition, and deployment of medical supplies and personnel from unaffected regions of the state to meet the needs of disaster victims.  Response activities may also include arranging for the evacuation of injured victims to hospitals in areas or regions not impacted by the disaster.


In short, I think from what I’ve said, we’re really kind of the first there when there is a disaster to take care of matters.  I’d like to introduce Jeff Rubin, who does head up our Disaster Medical Assistance Division.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for highlighting that.


MR. WATSON:  I do want to thank you for inviting us to be here.  I appreciate it very much.  Even though we may not be able to fully participate in all aspects of this hearing, I’m very happy to be here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we appreciate it because every time you share with us the role of EMSA and the public understands that, they get a little better understanding of public health across the spectrum.  So, thank you so much for reminding us.


MR. WATSON:  And thank you for your support.


MR. JEFF RUBIN:  Madam Chairwoman, members, I’m Jeff Rubin, chief of the Disaster Medical Services Division of the EMS Authority.


The medical response for disasters requires the contribution of numerous entities.  Many of these entities—for instance, such as the military—are not part of the day-to-day emergency medical services system; yet, the authority works closely with all the different government agencies at the federal, state, and local level.  We also work closely with the private and not-for-profit sectors:  hospitals, ambulance providers, and medical supply vendors.  


The Department of Health Services, as Director Watson mentioned, is a key partner in both planning for and responding to a disaster.  The authority has a Memorandum of Understanding with Health Services that delineates our mutually supportive roles, particularly in the management and operation of a joint Emergency Operations Center for state medical and health disaster response.


The EMS Authority and, in turn, our local EMS partners have a long history of reaching out to the public health community as well as the private health community to jointly prepare for emergencies.  These activities are linked with the Office of Emergency Services at the state and local level which provides the overall umbrella, and then local EMS agencies and the authority are positioned to work with the public health community and the local health departments to look at medical care delivery in the time of a disaster, be it a public health emergency or other type of emergency.  Therefore, we’re a partner to all the different agencies, and we hold that role very dear and very important to us.


We spend time in helping counties prepare for any type of hazard.  We’ve given monies to over 30 different counties to help them develop local disaster plans.  Dr. Lindsay is here, and we’ve given her county money, in particular.


That approach has been an all-hazard approach, whether it’s for naturally occurring events (earthquakes, floods, fires), technological accidents (nuclear power plant emergencies), human-caused events (civil disturbance), or now other threats of terrorism (using weapons of mass destruction).  


Following the attacks in Oklahoma City and the sarin gas attack in Tokyo, we redirected several of our Disaster Medical Services Division staff to begin to work on terrorism issues.  Initially, we focused on chemical and radiologic terrorism because of those particular events, particularly the Tokyo attack, but we then moved on with Health Services and others to look at biological terrorism.


I’ll just highlight a couple of the recent bioterrorism response initiatives that we’ve been engaged in.


In 2001, our annual Disaster Medical and Health Conference, which is a statewide event that draws over 1,200 individuals, looked at the issue of bioterrorism:  planning for and preparing to respond to a bioterrorism event.  Ironically, the second conference was interrupted by the announcement of the anthrax attack, so people asked us if we’d had a crystal ball at the time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Amazing.


MR. RUBIN:  Two years later—actually, this past November—our annual Statewide Medical and Health Disaster Exercise, which we lead, focused on a biological terrorism scenario, and hundreds of hospitals in the majority of the state, health departments, and local EMS agencies again participated in that event.


In our 2002 and 2003 Field Disaster Medical Assistance Team Exercise, we highlighted the issue of biological terrorism, and our personnel practiced mass prophylaxis for the hundreds of responders exposed to a biological agent.  At that time we exercised newly developed, joint EMSA/DHS mass prophylaxis guidelines, and based on the lessons learned, we’ve updated that document.  And many other different response entities participated in that training:  National Guard, local health departments, fire, law enforcement, and most providers.


The Health Resources and Services Authority’s hospital bioterrorism program funds, which Dr. Reilly mentioned, have really enabled the authority to expand its terrorism preparedness efforts.  The authority received $9.9 million for year one of the HRSA monies to build and enhance the capability of hospitals, community clinics, EMS, and poison control centers.  [Recording tape changed – portion of text missing] . . . for the effective utilization of the monies, and that plan was based upon the first ever statewide needs assessment done of all the hospitals and all the clinics in the state.  It was a tremendous effort and, frankly, a fantastic outpouring of support from the hospitals and the clinics.


The implementation plan focused on equipment and supplies necessary for the hospital response to bioterrorism and allowed each of the hospitals, in concert with county government partners, to determine which item or items to purchase, depending on the needs of their facility or the community.  The elective equipment and supplies list included personal protective equipment consisting of respirators and chemical resistant suits to protect staff during the decontamination and treatment of patients contaminated with chemical or biological substances.  Hospitals were provided with portable decontamination tents that can be assembled and ready for use within fifteen minutes in order to safely and effectively decontaminate patients presenting to the hospitals.


Another elective item in the plan was a portable mass care shelter, which is a very large tent equipped with heating and ventilation systems, lights, and patient cots.  The purpose of the tent is to increase the capacity, which is known as “surge capacity,” of a hospital to accommodate an influx of patients and provide a protective place to triage and provide care.


I’d like to take one second just to give you a recent example of how this mass casualty shelter tent expanded one hospital’s ability to care for patients.  Just this past December during the flu season, the emergency department at Loma Linda University Hospital in Southern California was experiencing a very high patient census with flu-like symptoms and was in need of additional space for patient triage and care.  They were even running out of chairs for ill patients waiting to be seen in the emergency department.  The hospital had just received their mass casualty shelter tent and decided to utilize the shelter and cots in their parking lot to increase their capacity.  They utilized the tent for five days and commented that having it was a definite benefit and they could have used two more.  The successful use of this equipment is a demonstration of the effectiveness of the implementation plan developed by the EMS Authority and the constituent committee.


We’ve also, in the implementation plan, provided for the development of emergency management plans and templates for community clinic providers to work with California primary care clinic associations to try and bring clinics into the response system for disasters; a very important, really underutilized, portion of the response system.


Healthcare providers in the state identified a need for a standardized training program to educate all levels of healthcare workers about terrorism, including chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear, and explosive events.  We did a contract with the University of California, Los Angeles.  Their emergency medical working group have developed a medical and health program.  This training program will be accessible online, and CDs will be sent to all the physicians in the state, hospitals, health departments, et cetera, to try and educate all providers in a uniform way, which I think has been one of the hallmarks of our programs—a standardized approach statewide.


One of the things we did with the bioterrorism funds was to provide monies to counties and hospitals to make sure that those hospitals that are part of the    9-1-1 receiving system (but were currently without a communication system) were able to join together, and we did that in over 25 counties in the state.


We believe the implementation plan for year one has been a success.  In year two the authority has subcontracted with the Department of Health Services to perform specific activities and develop plans to continue to enhance and expand on the year-one activities and accomplishments.  We will be focusing in year two on the enhancement of EMS services, hospitals, and poison control centers, and we look forward to collaborating with DHS in that effort.


One other area that we’ve taken the lead role in during the 2003 influenza season, which we’re just now winding down from, was by convening a task force that included the California Department of Health Services, the California Healthcare Association, prehospital providers, and others.  And the purpose of the task force is to share information, develop strategies and public information messages, and to address the needs of the healthcare community.  We feel—and we did this seven years ago when we had the major flu crisis—that by bringing major stakeholders together, the state and private partners can assist locals with managing large numbers of patients with flu and flu-like symptoms. 


I wish to once again thank the committee for this opportunity and to assure you of our continued commitment to work closely with our key partner—the Department of Health Services—local providers, and with you to enhance emergency preparedness and all-hazards planning and response in the State of California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.  I’m listening very closely to try to anticipate much of the discussion about various reorganizations and consolidations and the relationships between OES and EMSA and the department.  I think you’re raising many of the examples of the complexity of responding to this at a time when we have diminishing resources.  I don’t know that we have the option, of course, not to be as responsive as possible.  Our reliance on federal funding—a trend away from state funding—again makes this even more urgent and more compelling.


So, thank you for your good work.  I’m sure that we’re all going to be watching closely as things unfold over the next year—or maybe by Friday—to see how we all fare.  So, thank you.


I believe our next speaker is Dr. Poki Namkung.  Welcome, as always.


DR. POKI STEWART NAMKUNG:  Thank you.


Good afternoon, Madam Chair and members of the committee.  I thank you for this opportunity to speak on behalf of local public health in California on this most critical topic.  


I am Dr. Poki Namkung, health officer in Berkeley and president of the Health Officers Association of California.


We in California are fortunate to have a well-structured, organized local public health system consisting of the 58-county and three-city health jurisdictions headed by physician health officers who are both clinicians and administrators.


Health officers understand the commitment and the urgency necessary to deal with public health threats in the form of emerging infectious diseases because we are the incident commanders in these types of events.  We are responsible for marshaling the resources of the local public health system and coordinating the response, from detection, diagnosis, treatment, contact investigation, necessary prophylaxis or vaccination, expert consultation, and public education information, with other health professionals, the media, and the public.


In my statement today I wish to cover your stated questions under two broad topics, and the first is:  How serious is the threat of infectious diseases, and what are the consequences?  And the second is:  What have we done to prepare, and what remains to be done?


So, first let’s characterize the threat.  In the past thirty years, there have been 35 new infectious diseases around the world with names now familiar to us, such as hepatitis C, Ebola hemorrhagic fever, and variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, as examples.


The Institute of Medicine attributes this surge in infectious diseases to the following factors:

· Microbial adaptation and change

· Human susceptibility

· Population growth and changes in demographics

· Economic development and land use

· Inadequate and deteriorating public health infrastructure

· Poverty

· Social inequality

· War and famine

· Climate

· Changing ecosystems

· International travel and commerce

· Lack of political will (and)

· Bioterrorism


Now, analyzing this list of problems, one can anticipate that emerging infectious diseases will likely become more serious in the future and not less.  It seems that every morning when we open the paper we hear more bad news:  deaths of children due to influenza this year to the first diagnosed case of bovine spongiform encephalopathy in the United States.


Despite the development of miraculous antimicrobial agents, improvements in health care and technology, a better understanding of the pathogenesis of disease, the death rate from infectious disease in the United States, which had been declining in the 20th century, is now double what it was in 1980.


Using SARS as a case example will clearly illustrate how serious the threat is and what the consequences are.  The development of SARS, although devastating, should also be a clarion call to action and a warning about the serious worldwide consequences that can occur at every level—public health, economic, and political—when epidemics arise in an interconnected global environment.  To quote Lauri Garrett in Betrayal of Trust:  “The idea that the health of every nation depends on the health of others is not an empty piety, but it is an epidemiological fact.”


The expert assessment is that had SARS been moderately more contagious, it probably could not have been contained.  We all know that eventually what worked to control the epidemic were old-fashioned measures of good infection control:  taking temperatures as a measure of surveillance and quarantine.  In the countries most heavily affected, responding to SARS strained every resource and most affected, in terms of illness and death, those very same public health and healthcare workers whose responsibility it was to control and treat the epidemic. In addition, the economic costs were enormous.  In Hong Kong alone, the cost associated with just the response exceeded $3.5 billion.  This does not include the cost of the effects on tourism, trade, and the virtual shutdown of the entire territory.  Politically, the examples—one of the factors in the emergence of new infectious disease is the lack of political will—are still vivid in the revelation of the state of public health infrastructure in China and the subsequent resignations of key political figures.  


Now, what have we done to prepare and what remains to be done?  Going back to that list of factors, there are many that are beyond our control.  For example, we’re not going to close our borders to international travel or the globalization of commerce.  The phenomena of environmental degradation and global warming are not likely to subside.  So, what are the key factors that we can address here in California?  I would like to focus on two.  The first is the inadequate and deteriorating public health infrastructure, and the second is lack of political will.


Dr. Lindsay, the health officer from Humboldt County, will give you specific examples of how the federal bioterrorism money has affected local public health capacity and what we have done at the local level.  But I would like to speak more globally about the California public health infrastructure needs to meet the public’s expectations of fulfilling our responsibility to protect and promote health.


Now, there are three components to basic public health infrastructure, and they are:  workforce capacity incompetency; that is, the expertise of the approximately 500,000 professionals who work at the federal, state, and local levels in public health agencies.  The second component is information and data systems; that is, easily communicated guidelines, recommendations, health alerts, modern information, communication systems that monitor disease and enable efficient communication between public and private health organizations, the media, and the public.  And the last component is organizational capacity; and that is the system of federal, state, and local public health departments working collaboratively with each other and the private sector.


In terms of workforce capacity incompetency, it’s estimated that only 44 percent of those 500,000 professionals have had formal academic training in public health.  And across the nation, only 10 percent of those who receive master of public health degrees actually work in governmental public health.  The percentages are certainly far, far lower for other health professionals, such as physicians, nurses, health educators, and microbiologists.  Additionally, it’s estimated that at least 10 percent of our workforce will be eligible for retirement within the next five years.  So, there is an absolute dearth of a robust pool of public health workers due to two main factors.  One is the lack of comparable salaries with the private sector, and the second is ignorance of public health practice.


I think it is nurses who represent the largest classification of public health workers, and we all know of the crisis in the nursing shortage.  Although we are the first state and far ahead of other states in actually determining nurse/patient ratios for health care, we have not done the same to highlight that in the public health arena.  We do not have a state public health nursing director within our Department of Health Services.


The public sector simply cannot compete with the private sector in terms of competitive salaries.  In a survey done three years ago by the Health Officers Association, it was found, for example, that filling a public health nurse position can take an average of two years to recruit and fill.  In the Institute of Medicine’s report—Who Will Keep the Public Healthy?—specific recommendations state that all schools of public health focus on curricular changes that emphasize the real practice of public health; and other recommendations address other health professional training, including medical schools, nursing schools, pharmaceutical schools, and stating that public health is too important to continue to be ignored and must be an essential part of the curricula and training.  And this is where I see the lack of political will because all these schools—schools of public health, health professional schools—are largely publicly funded.


Specifically, to be succinct about what’s needed:

1. People have to know what public health does in order to want to be a public health professional.

2. People have to be paid decent salaries and have access to lifelong learning opportunities.  (And)

3. There must be incentives, such as stipends for training and forgiveness of loans for health professionals who actually do choose to work in public health.


So, we recommend that the state take the initiative and actively assess the California public health workforce development needs and work with all professional schools in California, other academic institutions, and the Legislature in order to address those needs.


In terms of information systems—the second component—the capacity for local health departments to effectively communicate with each other, with labs, other agencies, and healthcare professionals within their jurisdictions and communities and with the state and national agencies is still uneven.  The gaps in basic information infrastructure highlight that we do not effectively use the least expensive and most effective tool for preventing the spread of disease, and that is information.  Pure information.  We should have systems in place that allow us to access technical information immediately, track diseases, and effectively communicate.  And we should also be able to use those very same systems for training.  Those systems are not in place uniformly to any significant degree in California.


Finally, in terms of organizational capacity, local health departments do assess themselves within the framework of ten essential service systems.  I’m not going to list them, but it basically is what any person should reasonably be able to expect that their state or local health department would provide in order to protect their health and promote their health.  National studies have shown consistently that state and local health departments have a capacity to provide an average of 60 percent of these essential services consistently.  


The primary reason I’ve chosen not to address the gaps in our infrastructure is because we cannot definitively say what those gaps are.  We can’t say what our capacity is.  It’s never really been analyzed.  RAND is currently doing a comprehensive analysis of public health capacity in California, and a key area of public health infrastructure is public health law.  It is a pillar of public health infrastructure.  Law provides the enabling capacity for the scope of public health practice, and it also may go farther and actually delineate the fiscal responsibility for funding essential services.  We need to begin thinking more strategically about the future of the public health system in California.  Where do we want to be ten years from now, and how will those efforts be funded and sustained?  We have a long history of budget cuts—and probably a future history of budget cuts—lack of training, inadequate information systems, laboratories, and facilities.  It’s a huge history to overcome, but the necessary improvements can be done and must be done or we will all pay the price.


This leads me to my next topic, which is lack of political will.  Now, the public health system is the frontline of defense against emerging and reemerging infectious diseases, and we’re continually asked to do more with less.  Let us be clear in California that the rebuilding of our public health infrastructure has been funded with federal money.  We use that money for emergency preparedness in a holistic way.  And by that I mean if we establish surveillance systems for infectious diseases, these same systems can also be used to track chronic diseases such as asthma.


Senator Ortiz, as the lead author of a series of legislative acts promoting public health infrastructure over the last seven years in California, you are well aware that the state’s contribution to its own vital infrastructure is sorely lacking.  You are also aware, I know, that this entire effort of rebuilding our public health system in California is being funded exclusively with federal dollars.  The federal dollars are sincerely welcome, but they’re not enough.  Local public health departments are the operational arm of public health.  In other states, according to the CDC, 80 percent of these federal dollars are going to the locals because the response to public health threats, be they natural or manmade, is local first and foremost.  In California, for a small-to-medium-sized jurisdiction, such as Berkeley, the total federal allocation is under $250,000.  That’s nowhere near enough to track and retain good staff, provide learning training, enhance our abilities to do surveillance and communication, and strengthen our laboratory capacity and our partnerships with the private sector.


And while we are receiving federal money for emergency prevention, the funding of other critical activities in public health that keep the public healthy are either being flat-funded or cut.  As Dr. Sheila Basrur, Toronto’s medical officer of health, has said:  “Bugs can come and go, but chronic diseases come and stay.”  We cannot build a robust public health system by continually responding to the crisis de jure to each crisis, and as we do that we’re forced into tradeoffs.  For example, if we have to focus on infectious disease prevention, it’s at the expense of chronic disease prevention and other public health responsibilities.  We do not have public health surge capacity to deal with two or more crises simultaneously.


Last year when SARS became a reality for us, thank goodness it was a mild influenza season.  And this year, influenza has been very difficult, but thank goodness it’s beginning to decline just as SARS has reemerged.  So, we’ve been very, very lucky dodging the bullet, but we cannot continue to fund public health from crisis to crisis.  We must develop the political recognition and will to build a system that assures accountability and preparedness for the entire spectrum of essential services to create the conditions in which people can be healthy.


You all know that on January 5th the SARS case in China was confirmed, and just this morning the second case was confirmed.  We know in public health that we have dedicated and committed professionals, but we truly lack the resources to ensure containment.  We cannot continue to be at the razor’s edge of our capacity in terms of resources, training, and equipment to contain a global tragedy that might start with just one plane ride, one infected patient, or one infected herd of ducks.  


Now that we’ve experienced bioterrorism in addition to the threats that originate in nature, we can never lower our guard again; not today and not tomorrow.  


So, I thank you, Senator Ortiz and members of the committee, for this opportunity to speak on behalf of local health officers.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, as always, for your hard work.  


I appreciate being reminded about how difficult it has been to really fund with state dollars what had been a long and neglected system prior to 9/11.  I think we were successful in getting up to nine million one year in the budget, which was blue-penciled down to zero or one or two at best.  We were successful at least in revising the subvention account.  


But it’s a lot of work for a little return at a time when, quite frankly, California had a bit more to commit to local infrastructure.  I fear for the pressures on local government on the question of affordability and whether or not it comes from the Legislature.  If we have to deliver the four billion that was lost in the vehicle license fee to locals, particularly counties, to fund a lot of local public health functions, we’re going to have to cut at the state end, either in Medi-Cal or in clinics.  So, there’s no net gain.  Let’s be very clear about this.  But I understand from the perspective of local government that four billion is four billion.  We may actually see a further erosion of that system.  Unfortunately, it’s usually the high-profile outbreaks and cases and going back to the federal government and hoping that we’ll see continued funding.  


It is tragic, and I appreciate you for the work you do, but I think it bears repeating to the public that this has just been a disaster that’s been getting worse despite a lot of federal assistance.  I was alarmed by your figures that we had a doubling of deaths from infectious disease since 1980.  What were the variables there?  Was it HIV being introduced into our population?  Was it post-Prop. 13 and the effect on funding mechanisms on a local level?  Can you provide some explanation for that?


DR. NAMKUNG:  Well, I think HIV/AIDS is a considerable portion of that increase.  But it is all those thirteen factors that promote both the emergence of new infectious diseases, as well as the more serious nature, and the reemergence of diseases such as multi-drug resistant tuberculosis.  In fact, when you look at the ten leading causes of death, if you actually combine all communicable diseases, they rise to the third leading cause of death.  So, this is a very significant threat.  It’s a threat to all of us from infancy to old age.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There was a time when the public health nurse came out and visited every new mom.  That’s an example of a proactive system, and we’re so far away from that.  


I think Senator Torlakson wants to weigh in, but let make another observation.  I’ve often said that as public health officers, you do your job so well that nobody knows who you are.  They don’t put a face to you.  They don’t have an understanding because you avoid crises.  However, when there’s tough decisions made in very lean times in county budgets, they have a tough job to do, and we have not made it easier in the Legislature.  Despite us trying to respect those local mandates and fund them appropriately, we have been unable to do so on the existing resources.  You don’t have the uniforms to go before the board of supervisors’ meetings, but I also want to acknowledge publicly that early on, post-9/11, when we pulled together a team of public health officers as well as police and fire, they stepped forward and they said that public health officers are part of our first responders.  There was an effort, at least on DHS, to hold back on the first round of cuts; I think the five percent they began whittling away on the state level.  


You know, you do your work so well.  You don’t have uniforms and badges, but I want to thank you publicly.  Let’s see what we can do as we get through these tough times.


Senator Torlakson, did you want to weigh in?


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Sure.  Just a comment.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Again, I strongly support the statements you just made in terms of recognizing the value and efforts of the public health community here assembled.  They do their work so well, and they often don’t get recognized because they avoid so many crises.


The testimony was excellent, Poki, because it focused on a number of things in terms of underscoring the idea that an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure.  The fact that Hong Kong experienced billions and other cities that had to go through SARS and the quarantine, a lot is at risk if things get out of control.  And you also point out that it’s almost one a year a new infectious disease emerges.  It becomes part of our vocabulary—almost one a year for the last thirty-five years.  It’s crazy, in a way, that it’s that huge of a threat.  And then you also point out the possibility of two emergencies coming at once and the system totally breaking down in terms of the surge capacity of the system to deal with it.


I was wondering if you—and perhaps the committee may already have this information—whether the public health community through DHS and the local officers have a ten-year, twenty-year, twenty-five-year line graph look at public health funding in aggregate:  how much is federal, how much is state, how much is local, and how it’s changed.  That would help in terms of a context of looking at where the support is coming from in light of this huge challenge and, also, if the graph shows it (I think it will)—the lack of state and local commitment here in California—what it means in terms of penny wise and pound foolish; the prevention paradigm we were talking about in terms of we risk so many billions more by not putting the dollars in at the front end that you could do that ounce of prevention with.  I don’t know if we have that data anywhere.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t believe the committee staff does, but maybe Dr. Namkung knows.


DR. NAMKUNG:  Well, there is a very recent study from UC Berkeley on the effective realignment funding, on public health funding, which is really very interesting in how the devolution of responsibility from state to locals has significantly decreased the funding available for public health.  I’ll send that to you; I have it online.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  For instance, just aggregate over the last three years, four years, what is the aggregate investment in public health efforts through the city of Berkeley, counties, and on up to DHS?  Do we have an aggregate number to get a gauge of what’s needed beyond that aggregate number to get to a safer place?


DR. NAMKUNG:  That is exactly what the RAND Institute is analyzing right now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I believe their report will be a part of our hearing in the spring.  I think they’re anticipating April or so for the report.  But let’s get whatever information you have, if you wouldn’t mind providing it to my staff, and then we’ll make sure all the committee members get a copy.  Excellent questions.  It will help structure the hearings that we have on the question of the Little Hoover Commission report and the issues that are raised there.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  And finally, Madam Chair, I thought she appropriately underscored your valiant efforts as the author of a series of bills.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I wished it produced a bit more though.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  They just kept cutting back.  They got in, they got vetoed, they got line itemed, they got reduced, but you kept fighting.  We thank you for that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you.  It’s all of our hard work and certainly the health officers.


I have held up and gone beyond our time allotted because I’ve been chatting too much.  So, with that, I’m going to ask our next speaker, Ann Lindsay, from Humboldt, to present.


Welcome, and thank you for being here.


DR. ANN LINDSAY:  I’m Dr. Ann Lindsay, and I’m the health officer from Humboldt County.  I’m reporting on the impact of federal bioterrorism and public health preparedness funding on our county, so I mean to be fairly specific.


We are definitely more prepared for the control of communicable diseases and management of disasters of all types compared to two years ago, and there has been a general improvement across the state.  But, at the outset, I want to emphasize that planning has been impaired significantly by several factors, and one is the awkward allocation process through the State Legislature.  Dr. Reilly mentioned we received $70 million this year for our third year of funding, but it has yet to be allocated, actually.  It’s federal money—there’s no cost to the state—and it has still not been released through the state to the counties.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is the argument I made on, ironically, 9/11, as my bill was sitting on the Assembly Floor and was not lifted because of, apparently, partisan issues.  So, thank you for highlighting that.


DR. LINDSAY:  Right.  So, here we are.  The funding year goes from August of 2003 to August of 2004.  We just turned in our plans this month, and I don’t know when the funding will actually come out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Reilly, please be prepared to respond later to that.  We’re getting mixed messages on whether the money has been moved out or not, so be prepared to respond to that one.


Please continue.


DR. LINDSAY:  Then, another factor is the deficient personnel structures in the counties, so that creating and hiring new positions routinely takes a minimum of four to six months, or more.  Another factor is the dearth of trained personnel in the state, particularly microbiologists and epidemiologists and public health nurses.  And finally, the low salary limits which hamper recruitment and retention.  It’s not that we don’t have money sometimes to allocate.  We just can’t because of the whole structure in the public sector.


One year after receiving confirmation of funding, Humboldt County still had two microbiologist positions unfilled.  It took us about a year to fund the three positions that we had allocated from the federal grant-funded positions.  Most other counties in the state, both urban and rural, are in a similar position.


Nevertheless, we have accomplished a great deal.  Disaster planning had not been previously, specifically funded, with the exception of EMS Authority money that went to several counties.  Humboldt County was a recipient, so we had a little jump on it.  Laboratory and communicable disease control is funded by fees, in the case of laboratory, and realignment funding so that supplemental funding has helped significantly.


We began our planning process in Humboldt County by completing a Centers for Disease Control capacity assessment, as well as contracting with the Health Officers Association of California for a thorough capacity assessment.  And then our subsequent activities were guided by the benchmarks which are issued by CDC, but we also focused on addressing the gaps identified in the capacity assessments, emphasizing preparedness for all hazards.  This assessment was only for Humboldt County.  There have been no coordinated and detailed assessment of capacity standards statewide, so we don’t really have a good handle on where our collective gaps are, and individual health departments vary significantly.


Humboldt County received extra Centers for Disease Control funding, which was not available to all counties, that has allowed an upgrade in our public health laboratory equipment and training of staff.  We have improved communications with commercial laboratories, smaller public health laboratories in our area, and state laboratories, and this is all put together in a laboratory response network.  That is now actually functioning much better than before, and this really helps despite the fact that key positions, both locally and at the state, remain unfilled.  So, we tend to focus more on day-to-day problems at the expense of broader planning.


The Humboldt County Public Health has developed formal protocols for management of infectious diseases.  We’ve refined and updated disaster plans and written and trained our community on plans for mass immunization and treatment.  Although we have a long history of disaster planning with our community partners, the process is considerably more effective now that we have funding.  You know, we’ve been meeting quarterly for the ten years that I’ve been health officer.  It’s very exciting, actually, to have some money to put these ideas into action.


We do work directly now with law enforcement and fire on plans because they’re also getting new federal funds.  And we have newly hired public health staff which is going to coordinate the utilization of the federal funding from HRSA for hospitals and clinics.  This will help us plan for emergency and surge capacity.  And we have, actually, had much better drills since we have money to fund them.


A major advance is underway in communications with the establishment of CAHAN, the California Health Alert Network, and that, as you heard, is a system of communications from the state to the local public health officials for twenty-four-hours-a-day, seven-days-a-week communication.  And we, in turn, have improved our capacity to communicate with our community partners, such as hospitals, emergency departments, and physicians.  Some of the larger public health departments in the state had begun development of communication networks.  Smaller health departments had not had the funds prior to this CDC funding to allocate for this important effort.


Staff have received some training in risk communication which helps not only in bioterrorism situations but in all types of public health situations; most notably, recently, the mad cow and SARS.


Our federal funding planning has developed our small county to respond to threats of SARS and West Nile virus, and although Humboldt County is remote, birds and airplanes regularly bring the world of infectious diseases to our doorstep.  Exotic conditions can happen anywhere in the state.  We really are an international community.


We now have written comprehensive plans for West Nile virus and SARS surveillance and response.  These plans were written by realignment-funded staff, but the communication and training networks promoted by the CDC funding and assistance from the state Department of Health Services were vital in our preparations.


Also, the CDC funding required clarification of the isolation and quarantine powers of the state and local health officer, and that’s been very helpful.  Fortunately, we haven’t had to utilize those services.


In summary, we have come a long way in planning, in infrastructure development training, communication, and clarification of lines of authority for all communicable diseases in disaster situations.  A significant work remains.  Threats loom from impending cuts in public health funding, lack of trained staff, and difficulty retaining staff with our low salary structure.  Beyond the public health world, there’s shrinking profit margins for hospitals and ambulances which hurt our surge capacity and could result in loss of services altogether in some areas.  The medical care system is overburdened with paperwork required for reimbursement.  It’s estimated that such paperwork occupies 20 percent of a practicing physician’s time, so here we are presenting proposals for public health surveillance, and it seems unlikely that we will succeed.  It depends on active input from medical providers.  


It’s difficult for people outside of the healthcare system to realize that there is no systematic collection of data regarding outpatient medical encounters, and hospital data is skewed to reimbursement codes rather than to codes that are useful for surveillance.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you very much for your testimony, Dr. Lindsay.  


We next go to the executive director of the California Association of Public Health Laboratory Directors.  That would be Dennis Ferrero.


MR. DENNIS FERRERO:  Thank you very much, Senator Ortiz and committee members.  Thanks for inviting us to speak here today.


I represent the California Association of Public Health Lab Directors.  That’s an association of 38 public health laboratories throughout the State of California.  I represent about 67 percent of the jurisdictions in California.  We’ve been in existence for about 54 years.  I personally have 34 years in local public health in three counties.  I started when there was a department of public health and have watched and observed from my perspective over those 34 years some things good and some things not so good, frankly, in the changes that have occurred.  While I started out as a microbiologist, I’m now director of Disease Control and Prevention Services at San Joaquin County as well.  I will keep my testimony and my comments to laboratory issues.  


There are areas here that overlap at times with the sciences.  However, what I would like to say is that these threats are real, they are ever present, and we need to be vigilant.  To some extent, if you’re not aware of what the disease is—and that usually comes from a laboratory diagnosis or some lab tests from these types of emerging pathogens (T/issues[?]), whether they be environmental or within humans or animals—you have no idea or no clue what you’re going to do.  So, this is a very important and crucial part of public health; that is, the laboratory system.


We have seen over the years some changes in the way that we interface with the state laboratory.  The state laboratory—I think probably most of you know this—however, there is separate law and jurisdictional issues between the state laboratory and local public health laboratories.  We do work together, but we’re separate and autonomous jurisdictions in this state.  That’s not the case in some states.  We have seen, unfortunately, a need for us, and our recommendation is to revisit priority establishment within the Department of Health Services, in particular in the laboratory area.  We see competing programs and bureaus that are competing for limited dollars, and many times public health is the area that is not receiving what we believe is their necessary due.


We would like to see, from the Laboratory Directors’ standpoint, more infusion of science-based decision-making at the state level.  We could say that about locals, but in our view, a lot of the policy decisions are made at the state level.  Again, we’d like to see more science-based decision-making.


Over the last decade we have seen a decline in support and diffused guidance to the locals from the state Department of Health Services.  Much of it is due to a change in the restructure of staffing.  Many seasoned veterans have left.  That is an issue that has been pointed out that will occur in the next five years.  You are going to find a significant reduction in science in your local public health departments and state health department.  Part of the reason is because, during the 1980s, many students weren’t going into sciences.  Those that did ended up in biotechnology and chose to go to another path.  Dollars are part of the issue.  Adequate funding and adequate salaries are one thing.  


I also think that there just needs to be a reestablishment of a career, a profession, for young individuals.  I’ve noticed in many talks that I have given to children planning to move from high school to college that after 2001, there was a lot of students who started looking into public health.  Unfortunately, we got a lot of press and a lot of publicity on public health needs.  That’s why we’re here.  That has driven a lot of what’s going on that will move public health into a new space.  So, it’s not a secret that we need to maybe reestablish some of what we did in the past.  If we look back to the 1970s and the late 1960s, some would say that the old system was an old system—why would we do that?  The issues that we’re dealing with today are the same as 1970.  The major issues in infectious diseases that were there that drove the department of public health are there today.


You were asking the question about our preparation for SARS and other areas—West Nile virus.  We have made big strides, I think, since 2001, in the laboratory systems to engage the new test technologies.  I think it’s unfortunate not all laboratories in California are capable or have the wherewithal to provide those tests.  We have some of this done on a regional basis.  We’re hoping to push it out to other laboratories as more equipment can be purchased for those laboratories.  


We see areas that we believe the local public health laboratories can do a lot more work with the food and drug branch.  We believe that our food and water supply needs to be monitored more, and we are there.  Whether it’s human or agricultural-based kind of testing, we have the capability and can do that.  We are regulatory laboratories.  We perform environmental as well as human testing.


The federal dollars have been very good for us in that it has helped us to build our infrastructure.  There are some lacking issues that the federal dollars do not address, that’s been mentioned here, and that’s facility.  I would suggest that you consider making your laboratories your number one priority for facility.  They are way different than building an office building.  Most of the laboratories in California—and, indeed, in the United States—were built in the sixties.  My laboratory is an example.  I have state-of-the-art equipment and top-notched staff in a laboratory that was built when I was in high school.  Something’s wrong with that picture.  So, I would recommend that we look and reestablish some mechanism similar to, maybe, Hill-Burton funding or other kinds of funding—bond issuing, or whatever—for building public health laboratory structures.


A couple of other areas of unmet needs, in our view, are. . . . I mentioned the dearth of science-based graduates that are going into public health.  We in the public health field can work on that end as far as encouraging children to come into public health as a career.  What we need on the other end is to help fund and reestablish the microbiology and the science-based classes that have to happen at state colleges and universities; try to attract from biotech into public health laboratories, because that’s what we do is biotech.  All of our testing in the next several years will be towards molecular diagnostics.  We would like to see the training funds that are available at the state and local levels to be utilized, once we have more graduates from the pool, to train more individuals in our laboratories and therefore increase the pool of necessary microbiologists.


I think you maybe aren’t aware that there’s probably not more than about 400 public health microbiologists in the State of California.  These are the people that will respond first time, always, on things such as 2001.  The majority of the testing that was done in the State of California was done in local public health labs and will be done again in local public health labs.  There’s something like 20,000 clinical laboratory technologists.  Those are the individuals that are working in the hospitals and the clinics.  In your public health labs, you’ve got 400 individuals, approximately, throughout the State of California—in local public health laboratories.


I think I would just sum up by reminding everyone that if you don’t have rapid diagnostics available at the local jurisdiction—I don’t mean in Timbuktu—you’re not going to know what to respond to, and some of these things need to be responded to within hours, if not minutes.  So, we would have a strong plea for you to consider more support for your local public health laboratories.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  In other hearings I’ve encouraged my colleagues, if they’ve never been in their local public health office or facility and, specifically, the labs, they ought to tour them.  I did that here in Sacramento.  It’s amazing—many of the buildings are truly sixties-era facilities; I mean, the crowding, the outdated equipment, greater demands and less space, and certainly not state-of-the-art technology nor equipment.  And again, just to reiterate, the infusion of dollars that have come in have been federal.  We were so far behind in the systems, and we’re still far behind.  So, I appreciate you highlighting that.


Senator Torlakson?


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Just briefly.  I have a question but also a comment first.  Obviously, getting more money out there would attract more people to the profession.  But I started to think, actually, of a movie script—you know, high suspense, detective, with Dennis as a costar—something that would popularize the career of a microbiologist.  And among the requests to the governor besides more money, how about “Terminator 4:  Microbiologists Save the World”?  You know, set it out as something every young person would like to aim at.


MR. FERRERO:  We’d be open to that.  [Laughter.]


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  The costar role?


MR. FERRERO:  Sure.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  On a serious. . . . well, this is serious.  On another note, how many labs are there at the local level?


MR. FERRERO:  There’s 38 local public health laboratories.  It includes, I think, two city jurisdictions, and the rest are county jurisdictions.  Our laboratory happens to be a regional lab, so have, like, six counties that we represent as well.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  It’s interesting:  I served for years—and you did too, I’m sure, in your capacity, Senator Ortiz—at the local level where sewer and water districts—and I see Ralph Heim paying attention here—sewer and water districts have the capability of going out and getting, through user fees basically, the money they need to fund their labs, and they have extensive labs to protect the public health.  


Have you ever thought of, or have we ever looked at, a framework—as we did with storm water, too, where we set up a system where the local agencies can generate their funding through user fees—to set up a system to do that for the public health labs?  I’m just thinking that it’s done on a majority basis, not a two-thirds vote.  We have existing statutory authority where the sanitation districts and water district labs get just about everything they want; and they’re very up to date, from what I can see in terms of my experience, at my level, in Contra Costa County.  Would that be a funding source to use the same framework?  Has that been explored in the past by your labs and others?


MR. FERRERO:  No, we haven’t.  That’s an intriguing idea.  As you know, most public health laboratories are considered, quote, “net county cost” to the counties; and so, the laboratories drain, so to speak, in the vernacular of maybe administration.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  You could set up public health districts to give the same framework in the law.  We’ve been asked to look at radical, if not out-of-the box, new ideas by our governor.


MR. FERRERO:  Versus moving the boxes?


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Besides moving the boxes around, yes.  I just thought I’d mention that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s an excellent possibility.  I don’t know if you’ve finished commenting on that . . .


DR. LINDSAY:  The Humboldt County Public Health Lab was fee-supported, actually, and generated money for a number of years.  The money actually has been conglomerated in the rest of our budget and doesn’t necessarily go back to the laboratory all the time.   Furthermore, some of the things that we do we do because it’s not commercially viable, or they’re unusual tests of communicable diseases that the commercial labs just don’t invest in.  So, there’s that need too.  But, from my perspective, a lot of the public health labs do have some fee-supported services and utilize that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I think the issue that was raised was the creation of a special district that has assessment authority solely for the purposes of labs.  I think it’s particularly relevant when you look at mutual aid among, particularly, rural counties where they don’t have the ability to have their own labs in each region—probably your consortium—where they have to literally join. . . . I mean, rural counties are particularly hard hit in these kinds of infrastructure questions.


MR. FERRERO:  I did want to answer.  One comment is that many of the laboratories do have a fee service system in the local setting, which is separate from the state.  The state does not have any fee services at the state laboratory.  However, it’s always short of total funding.  So, something of that type of a method would be, I think, really welcomed if we could consider it.  And I think maybe the public would even consider that type of a move.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, the examples are like the vector control districts—the water districts, the park districts—which are very narrow in focus.  But I think we would be remiss if we didn’t also mention that we’re seeing a trend.  There’s a lot of debate and every year we revisit this notion:  Do we need 5,000 districts to perform certain functions and ought we to be consolidating?  So, there is that climate as well and the efficiencies question.  But to create a special district solely for the purpose of funding, this may be one of the few funding things that would work well versus some of the others where we’ve built these huge special districts, or numerous special districts.


Dr. Namkung, did you want to comment on this idea?


DR. NAMKUNG:  Now that you’ve described this more fully, I am in support of that.  I just didn’t want us to lose laboratory diagnosis as a fundamental part of communicable disease control.  We do that regardless of ability to pay.  You know, it’s our responsibility.


Also, when you first proposed it, I was thinking that we would have fee-based . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, it’s a different perspective.  I don’t think that was the intent.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Your role in protecting the public health is very parallel to what water and sewer districts do, and many of these other agencies, that have the power to generate dollars through the mechanism that Senator Ortiz mentioned.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You would not be subject to the annual whims of a budget process, along with every other county function.  It would be a fee assessment agency that is created solely for the purpose of public health, or health.


MR. WATSON:  Senator, may I also suggest that for a year I was interim manager of the Monterey Regional Water Pollution Control Agency, and we had a lab to die for.  They were never totally busy, and they sure could have shared our resources.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


It’s very, very timely, I guess, our next speaker.  It’s Rusmisel?


MR. JOHN RUSMISEL:  Yes.  John Rusmisel.


Madam Chair, Senator Torlakson, and staff.  Good afternoon.  Thank you for the opportunity to speak today.  My name is John Rusmisel.  I am the manager of the Alameda County Mosquito Abatement District, and I’m also the legislative chair of the Mosquito and Vector Control Association of California.  


Our association represents 53 special districts, and I was heartened to hear you say nice things about special districts.  I know Senator Torlakson’s always been a champion of special districts and very helpful for our district in particular.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wait until you see my special district reorganization bill.  But that’s okay.


MR. RUSMISEL:  I can hardly wait.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, your vector control is one of the necessary and cleaner functions in special districts.


MR. RUSMISEL:  Anyway, our special districts throughout the state are responsible for mosquito abatement, maintenance of surveillance systems to detect West Nile virus and other mosquito-borne diseases, and public education programs to let our constituents know how to best protect themselves from disease.  Simply put, mosquito districts are California’s frontline defense against West Nile virus. 


Since Dr. Reilly wasn’t able to put much information out about West Nile virus, I’ll add there were approximately 8,900 human cases of West Nile virus in the United States this year.  It’s up considerably from the previous year.  Two hundred and eleven deaths.  Of course, we’re still getting data for the year.  That’s down a little bit from the 270 from the previous year.  West Nile virus has moved from New York in 1999 to 46 states now.  We have found it in wild birds, sentinel chicken flocks, mosquito pools, and now we’ve had three human cases, including one that we were notified about from Los Angeles County just in the last couple of days.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, three in California thus far.


MR. RUSMISEL:  This year.


We can expect with that movement of West Nile that it’s going to be a significant health threat in California later this year, in 2004.  Generally, you start to see human disease showing up in late summer—July usually.  So, we expect to see that certainly in Southern California, and we expect to see West Nile virus moving up into the Central Valley and up into the rest of the state this year.


Since West Nile’s arrival in the U.S., mosquito districts and other public health agencies represented here have done a very good job of working together to prepare for the disease.  We all have an essential role in addressing the West Nile threat.  To do our part, California mosquito districts employ state-of-the-art control and surveillance measures as sophisticated as any that exist in the world.  Effective West Nile virus controls are absolutely dependent on effective mosquito control.  For many years our districts have been leaders in implementing integrated pest management programs that seek, first, to eliminate mosquito breeding areas and use pesticides only when it is necessary to protect human health.  When we do spray, it is with public health pesticides developed specifically for mosquitoes and with a proven record of safety to the public and the environment.


To monitor West Nile virus and other mosquito-borne diseases, our districts also place hundreds of sentinel chicken flocks throughout the state to help detect disease before humans are infected.  We have over 200 in the state.  Most of our districts have had sentinel chicken flocks for many years.  This didn’t just start with West Nile virus.  Of course, a lot more has been added.  Every two weeks these chickens have blood drawn and tested by the Department of Health Services for the presence of antibodies for West Nile virus and other diseases.  It was a chicken flock placed by one of our districts that first detected the arrival of West Nile in Southern California this last fall, in Imperial Valley.


Our districts also collect mosquitoes in mosquito pools from hundreds of locations throughout the state for testing at UC Davis.  So, we work not only with the Department of Health Services very closely but also the UC system, particularly Davis, and this is an area where we’ve seen cuts to the mosquito control program that is really not a very good time for that when we’re sitting on one of the biggest mosquito outbreaks that we’ve seen in the last generation.


If these early warning systems detect disease, we step up our mosquito control measures in the area to help prevent the spread of the disease.  Through public events, written materials, and outreach, mosquito districts also work to educate our constituents about how to best protect themselves from mosquitoes and do their part by eliminating standing water from their property.  We’ve been going around doing a lot of fairs, outreach to a lot of our public works departments, other county agencies, the sewer districts, and that sort of thing, letting them know also how they can help eliminate mosquitoes in their businesses.


While we do much, we believe we could and should be doing more.  We are handcuffed, of course, by limited funding.  Mosquito districts are funded primarily by property taxes.  Like other local governments, we lost nearly one-third of our funding to ERAF in the early nineties.  And I’d like to thank Senator Torlakson, and I know Senator Figueroa is on this committee.  They’ve done their part towards getting bills that would help restore some of those ERAF funds.  We’ve seen that get unanimous support in the Legislature only to be vetoed by the governor.  I appreciate your efforts, and I hope we can continue that.  The ERAF loss makes for tough choices and results, I’m afraid, in our not being able to do all we should to protect public health.


It is also worth noting that large parts of California, including some large urban areas, are not covered by organized mosquito control.  These areas have the potential to foster West Nile virus and spread the disease to other parts of the state.  I can mention, San Francisco doesn’t have an organized mosquito control district and, I believe, San Luis Obispo, as well as parts of Northern California.  Some of them do have the health officers and county health working on these, but they don’t have established mosquito control programs.


To help address this problem, our association sponsored AB 1454.  It’s being authored by Assemblyman Canciamilla this year.  The bill requires that mosquito control programs undertaken to combat West Nile virus in areas without organized mosquito control must be performed by an existing mosquito control agency or done in direct consultation with DHS.  This is the only way to ensure that control measures are conducted by licensed personnel using sound, integrated pest management techniques. 


Needless to say, the state is also struggling financially to meet its obligation to control mosquitoes.  This fall the Department of Fish and Game announced that it could not afford to honor some of its contracts with our local districts for mosquito control on state lands.  They have since rescinded that decision, but the outcome is still uncertain.  If the state drops mosquito control on its property, we’re looking at potential islands of disease that threaten all of us.  


California must also better reconcile our policy of wetlands restoration with our need to control mosquitoes.  Wetlands restoration is obviously very important for waterfowl and other species.  However, if wetlands are not properly managed and funds are not available for mosquito management, they can and do generate mosquito populations that threaten humans.  [Recording tape changed – portion of text missing] . . . best management practices that reduce mosquito populations and reduce the health threat.


Again, thank you for the opportunity to discuss these important issues.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony.


We are actually far behind from where we were supposed to have been in order to adequately address Panel 2, but I know we have three more speakers.  I believe this panel’s going to be most of the same individuals for the second panel.


So, with that, I would like to ask Mr. Maas to be the next speaker.  Welcome.


MR. FRANK MAAS:  Thank you.  


My name is Frank Maas.  I’m the administrative director of the Emergency Medicine Center at UCLA.  I’m here today representing the California Healthcare Association, which represents hospitals throughout the State of California.  


I’d like to thank Senator Ortiz and Senator Torlakson and the committee for taking an interest in the problems faced by health care in responding to infectious disease events within the state and allowing us the opportunity to speak.


My institution has seen a 20 percent increase in both emergency visits and admissions to the medical center from the emergency department in the last month alone.  This rapid increase has been felt by hospitals across the state and is due, in no little part, to the flu season this year.  The result has been substantial overcrowding of emergency departments, long waits for care, and the incapacitation of paramedic and EMT ambulance units as they wait for beds or are moved around by diversions.  Worst of all, it’s compromising patient safety at this point because of the overcrowding.


I point this out because what we are seeing this year is only what we consider—now, I’m not one of the many esteemed experts here; we’ve got people a long ways ahead of me—but we’re seeing a medium flu season compared to our past history.  I’ve done this for twenty-five years.  This is not the biggest one I’ve seen, by all means; and yet, we’re suffering from it now within the hospitals, and the emergency departments especially are being overwhelmed by this.


There’ve been a few sad deaths throughout the United States, but most of the cases here have been short-term illnesses that people have recovered from with no long-lasting effects.  But if the problems we see now are being caused by a medium-level health threat, you can imagine the damage that’s going to be done by a large-scale epidemic or disease that’s very deadly.  The flu is the cause of some problems, but SARS, smallpox, or other deadly outbreaks could cause chaos and the ability of the healthcare system in California to respond.


There are several areas that we feel need to be addressed as the state, local, and private sectors work together to prepare for provisions of care in the event of an infectious disease outbreak, whether it be unleashed by nature or man.  Because optimal communications are key to any coordinated effort, we feel that it is imperative that a coordinated communication system be developed between hospitals, prehospital care providers, the local medical service agencies, and the Emergency Medical Service Authority.


In some areas of California there are communications like this between some agencies, some entities, but there’s no cohesive statewide system that takes into account all the players in a major event.  Such a system would allow for better utilization of personnel, equipment, facilities, and would permit agencies and medical care facilities to work closely together, even if they’re at opposite ends of the state.  Incidents do not follow geographic boundaries, and counties and regions that can only talk to themselves cannot be as effective and responsive as an entire state that can act in unison.  Standards should be set to establish such a system.  There are some HRSA and CDC grants for this; however, they are not going to fill the full need.  There are other resources that will be required.


Another area of great concern is surge capacity.  We’ve talked about it from the public health standpoint.  From the hospital standpoint we have other problems.  As I mentioned earlier, we’re seeing a sudden upswing right now in patient censuses across the state, and this is only a mild or a moderate type of event.  In the event of a communicable disease outbreak, it will be critical that affected areas be able to place increased numbers of patients in appropriate facilities, especially those who need to be isolated from other types of patients.  We need to remember that the patients we’re seeing and treating now will still exist during an outbreak.  There will still be broken legs, traumas, illnesses of other sorts, other people that need to be cared for.  These patients will still be there.  


It is important that alternate sites and facilities be found for the treatment of those who are infected or suspected of infection.  Hospitals will need to determine isolated areas to care for these patients.  Since different areas within our state have diverse population densities and resources, it is important that communities are allowed, within state guidelines, to develop plans that would allow them to use alternate treatment areas and sites to take care of this type of response.  The state needs to reexamine the policies and guidelines on what nonhospital facilities may be used for in the case of an infectious disease outbreak.  In the event of such a disaster, it’s also important that the state be able to give rapid—I know there are reliefs—but rapid relief for things such as ratios, such as seismic retrofitting:  If a building isn’t complete and there’s an outbreak, we may need to use portions of a building that hasn’t been approved yet.  Without such exceptions, many hospitals won’t be able to respond effectively.


As we prepare to implement programs to combat a severe outbreak or terrorist act, it is extremely important that all available resources be used effectively and broadly.  Los Angeles County received HRSA grant funds, as did a few other high-risk large population areas in the United States.  The L.A. County Department of Health Services’ EMS Agency created a plan that formed a partnership between the county and the hospital and clinic associations.  Dispersion and use of the HRSA grant monies then became a cooperative effort that determined what would best serve the population of Los Angeles in the event of a bioterrorism or other infectious disease disaster.  Participation of the private sector has been excellent because they were allowed to provide their expertise in what they need to provide care in such an event.  On December 17th, President Bush declared in a directive hospitals as part of the first-responder unit.  L.A. has seen this and has already implemented this.  


The state is doing a tremendous job with its program.  However, we would suggest that the state examine within the limitations of a larger group of participants a similar cooperative effort where they could work with the hospitals possibly a little more closely.  We don’t feel left out—don’t get me wrong—but we feel that we could work more closely with the agencies.  Where financial resources are limited is of utmost importance that any resource be used wisely and effectively.  Treatment for patients in an infectious disease outbreak will be primarily the responsibility of the hospitals—or ultimately the responsibility of the hospitals.  It is important that appropriate resources be provided to allow for optimal care of such patients.  Assuring that a portion of the funding received from HRSA and other block grants be allocated to the hospitals and clinics is the only way that we can provide this guarantee.


Also, we must be able to deal not only with the infectious outbreak but also with public fears if there is an event.  One of our biggest problems when there’s a flu outbreak, SARS, or anything else is that there’s a lot of media attention.  It’s appropriate; however, it scares the public.  The public then shows up at the emergency department at the hospital in droves, and we need ways to communicate and educate the public so that they go to the right places, that they go to their doctor when it’s appropriate as opposed to the emergency department, because if there is an outbreak, these areas—prehospital care/hospitals—will be overwhelmed.  The addition of patients who could be treated elsewhere will just make matters worse and also expose them to people who are coming in with the real thing.


It’s important that the state join with local governments and hospitals in educating the public in this way.  Only through the establishment of planning guidelines, development of policy, and allocation of appropriate funding can we hope to provide a coordinated and successful response to bioterrorism or other deadly infectious outbreak.  The state plays the key role as a leader in developing such a system, and it is within our reach if we work together.  


So, I appreciate your patience with my babbling here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not babbling.  It is reiterating what we have seen.  If repetition is of any value, it’s to have those who need to hear this hear it two or three or four or ten times.  So, thank you.  Not babbling at all.


I’ll hold off on my questions.  I do have questions; I just want to get through the list of speakers first.


Our next speaker is Mr. Mitchell.  Welcome.


MR. WILLIAM MITCHELL:  Thank you.


My name is William Mitchell.  I’m director of public health for San Joaquin County and representing the County Health Executives Association.  I think my colleagues have very comprehensively described the problem and provided a lot of technical information, so I’m just going to underscore a few important infrastructure issues in the interest of brevity.


I think that the emerging public health threats do underscore the importance of a comprehensive, strong public health system; system meaning between the state and local health departments.  As you stated earlier, protection of the public is a fundamental role of government, and people do expect their local health departments to protect them from health threats.  It’s been said many times, but the response to public health threats is a local response, and the infrastructure needed to respond, whether it’s to SARS, West Nile, or bioterrorism, is the same infrastructure needed for the daily activities of disease surveillance case investigations, and immunization clinics, and we’re doing those every day.


However, local health departments are challenged in their ability to protect the public’s health through a lack of resources.  Mr. Ferrero mentioned antiquated facilities.  There’s also financial and workforce challenges that have been mentioned already.  For example, vehicle license fees are the backbone of not only core public health functions but also indigent health care.  In addition, many local jurisdictions receive discretionary VLF funds from their boards of supervisors which is not even required in law, and therefore, it is essential to protect VLF funding because many health departments will then be doubly hurt by both realignment and discretionary VLF reductions from their local sources.


Public health also is funded by a patchwork of categorical funding for programs such as maternal/child health, Ryan White tuberculosis, and whatnot, which are often insufficient to cover caseload growth and program requirements, and it’s just not possible to sustain the same level of programs and services with flat allocations and the cost of business increasing.  


The federal bioterrorism funding has been helpful because it is the first major investment in public health in many years.  It has indeed brought public health to the table where it has not been before.  It has fostered relationships in some cases among jurisdictions within a region but also with other disaster response agencies.  It has helped us plan for other public health responses such as SARS and West Nile, as Dr. Reilly mentioned, in the context of bioterrorism planning.  It has assisted us to coordinate and integrate response plans with other public emergency planning and response activities, and it’s fostered communication during events between public health and other first responder agencies where perhaps communication has not existed before.


But while the intent of bioterrorism preparedness has also been to shore up the public health infrastructure, the restrictions placed on these funds, as well as extremely burdensome accounting requirements, has kept expectations associated with these funds from being fully realized.  And I think some of the other colleagues have talked about some of the barriers to receiving and spending these funds.  In addition, last year with the smallpox vaccination campaign, it slowed down the overall bioterrorism preparedness efforts.  What we’re also concerned about is the sustainability of the system once the federal funds go away.  One of the other sources of public health funding is public health subvention, which has, obviously, been severely underfunded, but I think we need to revisit for the long term public health subvention in terms of public health infrastructure in California, again, once federal funding may not be there.


I also wanted to mention workforce issues because they challenge many health departments, and that’s been stated as well; that even though we have funding available, we’re often unable to find qualified public health professionals.  In fact, this often happens with new programs, but we all receive bioterrorism funding at the same time, and therefore, we were all looking for epidemiologists, public health microbiologists, and physicians all at the same time and putting a burden on the system.  Therefore, it’s essential to the future of public health that an investment be made in training public health professionals in the core competencies in public health that are needed in health departments today.


And that concludes my comments.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  


You’ve touched on a number of points, and some of them are supporting what has been said earlier, but it’s all very relevant testimony.  We keep coming back to the same place, which is long-term assurance of funding for the backlog of deferred infrastructure as well as communication and staffing.  Unfortunately, I’m going through what we’re all going to see in probably tomorrow’s budget, and I’m not sure how we’re going to do any of this, and it’s just frightening to me.  But thank you for the hard work you do.


We do have Dr. Lewin who has joined us.  Welcome.  I believe you’re the last speaker on this panel, so you may begin.


DR. JACK LEWIN:  Thank you, Chairperson Ortiz and Senator Torlakson and the committee.  Thank you very much for holding this hearing and putting this emphasis on the important public health issues.


I think you’ve heard from this very astute panel about everything I could add to this process, and I think in terms of brevity, what I would ask, with your permission, since I have a flight at five o’clock to catch, is if I might make the comment I wanted to make in terms of what CMA believes, in terms of SARS and West Nile virus and other emerging public health threats, would be most important to us.  


In fact, just as a bit of background, before I was the CEO of California Medical Association and a practicing physician for many years, and while I grew up and was educated in California, I did spend a number of years in my professional career in Hawaii as the director of health there.  Previous to that I was the regional director for the Navajo Indian Health Service and the U.S. Public Health Service in New Mexico, Arizona, and Utah, and had quite a bit of my more than sixteen years of my practice career dedicated to public health related issues as a public health leader.  


It’s always at the bottom of the totem pole until we have a crisis and then, suddenly, it gains public support needed and everybody panics.  But I think that we need to give the Little Hoover Commission some real credit because they’ve noted, in terms of responding to even these problems, that the infrastructure in California is ill-prepared to deal with some of the threats that we could face in the future; that we could benefit hugely from a focused agency in public health that would be separated from the very important parallel issues of healthcare services which are critical and are so huge in both budget and in specter of responsibility that they obviously dwarf public health in terms of the time, the dollars, the staffing, and the attention that they end up getting here and elsewhere in the country.


The public health community is inadequately prepared to deal with a real crisis here, and our capacity even in training of public health professionals, as the Little Hoover Commission report points out, is in need of repair.  Public health funding probably ought to ultimately be somewhat considered similar to fire and police protection because this is a basic protection of society, and until we see it that way, we won’t achieve the kind of goals that we need.


What I would say in a personal note is in Hawaii, a state of 1.3 million people, as compared to California State of, what, 34 plus . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thirty-three to 35 million, depending on what day of the week it is.


DR. LEWIN:  Yes.  In Hawaii, the Department of Health, a cabinet-level agency, has 6,000 employees.  It’s a public health agency.  There’s a separate department of health services that has a similar size staff and is responsible for Medi-Cal, for Medicaid in Hawaii, for SCHIP, or Healthy Families, for hospital accreditation, for EMS; and so, all the various things . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Separate from the public health.


DR. LEWIN:  Separate from the public health agency.  The agency I headed up had 6,000 people.  Imagine with the population difference the different emphasis placed in Hawaii on environmental health, public health, injuries and injury prevention, bioterrorism, and all the other issues that we’re talking about here.  


I want to say that I think that California Department of Health Services is an impressive agency filled with dedicated people.  I have the greatest respect for them and for their accomplishments, and I believe, in fact, that they should be commended for doing what they do, including what they do with public health.  But agencies of government can hardly be expected to suggest dismantling themselves or to divide in two.  It’s just not the nature of any large agency to see things that way because we take our responsibilities seriously and believe we’re doing the best with the resources that we have.


But given that we have a budget crisis, what the CMA would like to add to this discussion is that a new cabinet-level department related to public health could be done and created as a budget-neutral process in this state.  It could enable and improve public health planning, protection, and response.  It very much could be done in a way that would bring in new dollars from myriad opportunities available for grants and for other activities with external funding sources that we are really, frankly, hard-pressed to seek in as aggressive a fashion as we could were we able to have the focus there.  And we’d have the time to deal with the issues that the Little Hoover Commission has reported.


I believe we need to at least put this on the table as a budget-neutral kind of process.  We do not believe at the CMA that putting this emphasis on the table needs to be something that would interfere with the other important budget activities we face.  But I would say that were we to do so, we would see a different kind of focus, I think, particularly in terms of communication, immediately.  The California Medical Association can reach out to 35,000 physicians through our own e-mail connections to them, but we really need a system that connects the federal, the state, and the local, the practitioners of all kinds, and those involved in these areas.  And we’ve talked about that for years.  Were we to have a true disaster here in California, we would be hard-pressed to have the kind of response we really need to have, and I think that the CMA has tried our best, with the limited resources we have, to hopefully have some kind of ability to connect to doctors on an emergency basis, but we believe that this certainly is not adequate to what we need.


So, I would just suggest that you are to be commended for having this discussion.  I think our DHS is commended for doing an excellent job, given the resources they have.  Notwithstanding those statements, we believe it’s time to consider having a dedicated cabinet-level focus on public health.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for the perfect opener to our next panel, and I appreciate that.  I don’t know if you were here earlier, but I explained to the audience and to the rest of the panelists that my desire would be to take what has been the Little Hoover Commission report, or recommendations, and use that as the starting document and air that through a series of hearings that we’re planning.  We’re waiting on the RAND report which I think will be out in the spring—April or March.  We have the LAO also assisting and critiquing, raising the issues.  I hope to have a thoughtful and fairly thorough discussion to embark upon something as significant and wide-sweeping as this at the same time that we have the new administration looking at many of these reorganizations.  It’s timely and we have an obligation to look at it, to review it, and to present that and determine where we end up.  There’s a lot of interest, and all the forces have come together.  So, thank you for being a part of that, and you will indeed come back, I’m sure, to be a part of that as we have the hearings.


DR. LEWIN:  And Madam Chair—thank you—I was sitting in the back.  I didn’t actually see the empty chairs in the front, and I thought I was just going to wait my turn back there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I’m glad you came forward because I know that you do have a flight.  I always value your input.


DR. LEWIN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did you want to comment?


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Identical comments.  Thank you, Jack.  The governor has asked us all to think out of the box and create new boxes where necessary and take out old ones where necessary, and CMA’s testimony here today is very helpful.  I like that general idea that you outlined.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We are planning to get through the next panel, along with public comment, in less than an hour because we’ve given a lot of time to this first panel.  However, having said that, I want to give Senator Torlakson an opportunity to ask specific questions, if there are questions you’d like to ask, on the topic of the first panel; whether you fully exhausted your inquiries; whether there’s a desire for staff to weigh in.  If not, then there’s a couple of questions I have.


UNIDENTIFIED:  Go ahead.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thank you for representing your senator so well.


I want to go back to a difference in interpretation, or at least a statement of fact from Dr. Lindsay from Humboldt.  She indicated that they had yet to receive their federal dollars.  I don’t want to misquote you, but maybe you can make the statement again and have Mr. Reilly respond.


DR. LINDSAY:  This year’s federal funding has yet—and the year started in August—has yet to be allocated by the State Legislature. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, from the Legislature.


DR. LINDSAY:  Yes.  It’s not the Department of Health Services holding it up.  They’re not getting the funding either.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  See, this is the 85 million we had sitting on the Assembly Floor.  Where are we on that?  We were told by the department that, in fact, we weren’t going to need to move the bill; that, in fact, the department was going to allocate the money.


DR. REILLY:  Madam Chair, the budget act included $25.025 million in local assistance money.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  From, roughly, how much of the federal money?


DR. REILLY:  Over $100 million total.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, 25 million has been allocated to . . . ?


DR. REILLY:  It has been appropriated.  In addition, there was your piece of legislation that did not move last session.  We sought to move forward with a new budget provision called the Section 8 that allows for appropriation via a section letter, if you will, process.  We moved on that in late November, and it was with the Legislature in December.  There was a 30-day process for review.  And so, we now, at the end of December, do have an authorization for the remainder of the fiscal year funding above and beyond the approximately $32.4 million that was appropriated in the budget act.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, is that still subject to the freeze of the executive order of the new governor?


DR. REILLY:  I’m sorry, I don’t understand the question.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The new governor issued an executive order that no funding. . . . and there were a number of Section 27 decisions to cut programs.  Is this caught in the transition and the combination of exercising Section 27 authority, that some would suggest is not appropriate and exceeds the scope of the governor, and/or the executive order that halted expenditures?  I know you’re in a difficult situation, but do we have money waiting subject to the transition with the new administration?


DR. REILLY:  At this point I’m not aware of any conditions on the Section 8 request or limitations there.  My understanding is that it has been processed and that it is in effect now.  We do have, through that instrument, authorization to expend these monies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And when does the 30-day period end?


DR. REILLY:  It has already expired.  It was introduced, I believe, in late November.  I’m sorry, I don’t have the exact dates in front of me.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’re roughly three weeks behind that 30-day expiration date.


DR. REILLY:  Approximately, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where might my office or others make an inquiry as to where that money is?  And how much is that amount again?


DR. REILLY:  That section letter was on the order of $60-plus million for both the HRSA as well as the CDC funding.


Perhaps I could take a step back for a moment.  I do not have at this point in front of me a funding chart that we’ve been using on a regular basis meeting with the health officers about checks that have been cut.  As you may know, in the Health and Safety Code there is a series of specific provisions that affect how we distribute quarterly payments to local health jurisdictions.  Actually, they’re allocation processes to local health jurisdictions.  It involves plan reviews, progress reports, and new plan reviews on an annual basis.  I won’t try to say that we are not delayed in that process.  We’ve had a series of challenges around that, including transition in staffing.  I don’t have in front of me exactly the last timeframe for those allocations.  We included smallpox allocations as a separate process.  It started getting very complicated in terms of the checks that we were cutting.  What I can offer is to provide the committee with an update of exactly what the current allocations have been to date and proceed with giving you information about plan approval processes as they are related to . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But somewhere there’s roughly 32.5 million waiting to go to the locals.  Is that correct?  Is that the figure that’s in some process?


DR. REILLY:  I apologize.  The total amount of local assistance money escapes me at this time, but there is a total amount for the current award period, not counting the two months going into next fiscal year, and my understanding is it is now available to the department for dispersing on a quarterly basis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what is that amount?


DR. REILLY:  It’s 25.025-plus. . . . I apologize.  Thirty or forty million.  I apologize, I don’t have that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we could see, potentially, $50 million sitting somewhere.


DR. REILLY:  No.  the statute requires that we allocate on a quarterly basis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m just trying to pin down the amount, Dr. Reilly.  Fifty million?  Did you say thirty-two point . . .


DR. REILLY:  In terms of authority, but then on a quarterly basis we allocate that over the year.  So, I’d have to go back and determine exactly when the last quarterly payments were, and I could provide it again to the committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  More than one million but possibly. . .  My point is, we really need to find out where this money is and at least respond to the locals.  That’s all.


DR. REILLY:  Yes, ma’am.  The issue is that the authority to spend the money is the issue with the budget act and the section letter, but we still have to go, based on the provisions of the statute, on a quarterly basis for distributing the money.  Above and beyond that, there is smallpox money that is specifically set aside for the federal government level to allocate that money as well.  


So, I think the best means would be to provide the committee with an update in real time of what the allocation process has been to date.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  And it seems your questions are right on target.  It seems like there’s somewhere like $50 million, and maybe it’s 12 million a quarter or something like that, that you would have to be going out the door under your previous system.


The question, though, that Senator Ortiz’ inquiry focused on, is the paperwork that you need, do you have staff to process the paperwork so you can cut the checks?  Sort of the preconditioned paperwork.  And is that preconditioned paperwork really necessary?  How necessary is it, and is there any grounds for suspension of that or looking at postponing that, lumping two years of paperwork together and evaluating what the use of the money is over a two-year period instead of an annual period?


DR. REILLY:  Senator, we have sought to automate our review of plans and progress reports.  We spent much of November/December trying to come up with a better system to do that.  I think that we have caught up on that, but again, I need to provide you with specifics as to what the allocations have been to date.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Did you want to make an inquiry, Dr. Namkung?


DR. NAMKUNG:  I did.  I think that DHS has done a magnificent job in terms of administering this grant and actually keeping the money flowing on an allocation basis.  However, I am concerned about your comments about the lack of need for your bill.  True, there is a Section 8 letter that can potentially appropriate the money, but your bill was far larger than a simple appropriation of money.  It contained many elements that are absolutely necessary, and I would ask you to really look at that.  We were hoping that that bill would even be put on an urgency or emergency basis because the federal fiscal year is different than our year.  There’s these odd months that we never get . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re going to move the vehicle this month.  I mean, I made the case, ironically, as it sat on the Assembly Floor on 9/11, that it was held up on a procedural basis.  The other side of the aisle simply said, Well, we’re not letting these bills get out.  It’s federal money.  There were no state match requirements.  


Our intent is to move it.  I understand the value of it.  I think it’s really important for us to understand, however, that these really are issues that go to the question of how we procedurally make priorities in this state and how we’re harming the very people that are most needed at times of huge financial need based on silliness, quite frankly.


So, thank you for that reminder.  We are going to move the bill, but we were verbally told that the bill would not be necessary for the purposes of rolling the money out.  That’s the one element of assurance we received from the department.  So, if that money has not rolled out independent of all the other provisions in the bill, then that is troubling.  I simply want to know where we are on the funding, and we’ll obviously get that information.  We’ll share it with everybody who is here today, but I think it was probably a logical question to anticipate here today.  I know you’re in a difficult position, so thank you, Dr. Reilly.


Any other questions?


Okay, with that, let’s move into our last panel.  We have forty minutes to cover a lot of ground.  Many of you are staying at this panel, and I thank you for your patience.  If any of you want to take a little break, there’s places in the hallway.  Don’t feel bad about that if you need to.


Again, thank you all.  


Let’s just move directly into the second panel and welcome Ms. Hattie Hanley from the Little Hoover Commission.  I’ll ask you to take the middle seat, which is not the hot seat, of course, but your document and your report have been, obviously, the topic of much discussion prior to transitions and new boxes being found or gotten rid of.  It certainly has intrigued me for some time, so I think you’re going to be very busy and probably appearing before this committee a number of times over the next year.  Let me welcome both of you—Joan Denton as well, thank you—and you may begin your testimony, whomever is opening up.  


MS. HATTIE HANLEY:  I’m Hattie Hanley with the Little Hoover Commission.  I thank you for having this discussion and keeping this issue alive.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We haven’t forgotten about it.


MS. HANLEY:  For those members of the audience that aren’t familiar with the Little Hoover Commission, our role is to review the efficiency and economy of performing government functions.  When some people read the report, they thought it was too limited because it really addressed the government functions.  But that’s what our role is within the State of California.  We’re an oversight agency that reviews various government functions.


As we see it, public health is the unrecognized and silent partner in the government’s public safety triad.  Because so few people seem to understand that, we put it on the front of our report in bold terms so that perhaps it would lodge into the thinking of policymakers what this silent partner in public safety provides.


We understand that the role of public health extends far beyond public safety, but as a government role we see it as the critical component of the highest priority.  And despite its critical role in ensuring public safety—because these unsung heroes prevent unnecessary illness and death, as you recognized earlier in your comments—it’s unfortunate but many people don’t understand public health’s role, and it’s often misunderstood.  They also don’t often have a voice at the table.  As you see, these scientists are very well educated and dedicated public servants who aren’t typically involved in the political process.  


Our role at the Little Hoover Commission is to see that government structures are put in place so that things function appropriately.  Therefore, we called for this restructuring of public health because of the urgent threats that are currently facing California as a border state which would give public health a voice at the table and some public accountability that’s critical.  It’s government’s role to ensure that minimum standards for infrastructure are upheld, and yet, the State of California has no such standards and has no system of public accountability to track and analyze whether critical benchmarks are being met.


When we performed our review, what we discovered is an urgent need to retool and fortify California’s eroded public health system which, when it had a public health board which existed for over a hundred years, was known internationally as one of the best public health departments in the world.  Since we have lost our public health department, now several decades ago, the system has quietly been allowed to decline.  With no public process and no benchmarking system, it’s hard to answer your question, Senator Torlakson, of just where are we.  When we asked the question to gather the initial data to do the analysis, we were given some very unsettling answers about a lack of metrics.  And so, if I could leave you with one critical thought, it’s that you must have the metrics to be able to do the math and follow the money.


We went through every expert in the State of California asking for how can we go about rolling up the information across the 61 local health districts in this state to see just where are we?  We heard broad testimony from the locals in the private sector and the public sector, from providers, from hospitals, from emergency rooms in particular, about a lack of a coordinated system and a lack of critical capacities.  However, when we went to see, Okay, which critical things are missing? there are some really big obvious things which are in the report, and I won’t review them because many of them have been stated here today.  


But our main point to you at the Senate and for the new administration is we have a golden opportunity in California right now to rebuild the public health system, and we also have a critical public obligation to do it because, literally, millions of lives are potentially on the line.  The federal government is providing us an ongoing grant—it’s not a one-time grant—of very significant new money.  This is given to us on an annual basis to the State of California.  It’s been approximately $70 million a year plus 25 to 30 for L.A., just from CDC.  There’s then the HRSA money.  There’s also special pots of money, for instance, for smallpox preparedness.  There’s a lot of new money flowing in.  The system of accountability is not transparent, and there aren’t public meetings to discuss this.  At this moment of golden opportunity for California, when we’re in this budget crisis, the federal government is handing us money that is specifically for rebuilding our public health system, and we as citizens have to say, What is the highest and best use of that money for dual use?  And I’d like to give you an example of that.


In talking with the CDC people—and I did clear it with them—they agree that this is an obvious dual use issue.  It’s laid out in a case study here, and I’ve actually made you copies, but we’re in a hurry so I won’t take the time to distribute it.  In pages 56 to 59 of this report, we wrote a case study with the assistance of the Department of Health Services’ incredibly excellent scientists there, as well as the Centers for Disease Control experts, on healthcare-setting-acquired infections.  That’s when your mom goes in to get a mastectomy, is she going to come out with something she picked up in the hospital that may kill her?  We know that approximately 8,400 Californians die every year innocently picking up these infections in healthcare settings.  It’s not just hospitals; it’s also clinics.  Outpatient surgery centers are another very big issue there.  


We do not have an appropriately staffed program to review those infections.  The infection rates are not publicly available.  There is a voluntary system with the CDC to report those infection rates, but we know through CDC guidelines that were developed, based on trying to turn around spikes in these hospital-acquired and healthcare-setting-acquired infections, that with a dedicated public health approach across an entire community (for instance, a public health district), you can prevent these infections from occurring.  But it takes not just the professionals within the hospital; it takes the essence of public health to prevent those deaths, and that is, you have to have scientists who are coordinating data across the region.  


Patients and healthcare providers carry these infections with them when they move from institution to institution.  So, if a physician goes from a prison to a nursing home to a hospital, according to the CDC—you’ll see on page 56—their stethoscopes, their equipment needs a new level of infection control to deal with these quickly evolving antibiotic resistant infections.  These superbugs are developing.  I’m not a scientist.  I did undergraduate scientific training at UC Davis, so I understand enough of it that I was able to work with the scientists at CDC and DHS, to read their papers, to write that case study, and to get to the point of saying, “Okay, sir, are you telling me that that’s the number one infectious disease killer in California and the United States at this point?”  And they said, “Yes.”


And I said, “Well, why isn’t that in your reports?” 


“Well, because they’re voluntarily reported instead of a mandatory reporting requirement.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want us to get to the rest of this and be able to have the discussion around the report, but with all due respect, we can fix that problem by requiring reporting versus revamping.


MS. HANLEY:  Well, that’s actually not enough, and that’s why it’s the perfect case study.  You can take those federal dollars . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What I’m trying to get at is that there are probably other compelling examples that are reflected in your recommendations in the report for restructuring or creating a department of public health.


MS. HANLEY:  Yes, and I’m happy to share those with you.  But just to wrap up that point, there is federal money available to staff that, and they do see that as an acceptable dual use.  That does not require any California money to do that, but what is the barrier is the hiring freeze.  Last year there was a BCP written and approved, and it went all the way up through the governor’s office.  It was never heard in the budget committee.  It was killed.  I don’t understand budgets; I’m not a budget expert.  But apparently, since it didn’t get its hearing, it didn’t get into the budget, and it was not funded.  So, the money is there, the cause is obvious, and . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll make sure that it gets a hearing this year.  I’m on the budget subcommittee.  I can’t speak for the budget chair, but I suspect he’d want to look at any pot available, and we’ll make sure that we get that information raised again—if it’s federal money.


MS. HANLEY:  That’s just an example of why this is so important.


Anyway, when we went to try and analyze all the data across all public health and roll it up, we found that that data was not available.  So, knowing that we were not the experts to continue to pursue that, because our role is to look at the structure of government, et cetera, we arranged for RAND to get that grant from the endowment to do a gap analysis; to say, “Okay, what do we need, what do we have, and what would it cost to fill that gap?”  I should just say that it’s been an extremely difficult project for RAND.  I got an update from them last night.  They’re a very dedicated group of people.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, is spring the timeline still?


MS. HANLEY:  We will get a preliminary analysis.  They’re going to have an expert panel later this month to confirm what they’ve come up with in their seven-county smallpox exercise, and they will then write the report and be ready, she said, to speak at a hearing in February or March.  So, they’re rolling right along with that.  And I have to commend the counties for their cooperation to provide that data.  Forty-two counties worked with the local health officers to work with RAND to do this study.  I should also say that the CDC inventory data that is at DHS was never made accessible to RAND.  


And so, from the standpoint of public oversight, the Senate—the Legislature—needs to have metrics to go by, and it shouldn’t be according to whether or not they would like to give the data.  Perhaps it’s fine to keep data secret if it’s a security issue.  In that case you then have to have security procedures for who would see that data.  In fact, RAND does have security clearance, which is why we were working with them.  But in any case, we encourage you to put in law the requirement that we have those basic standards set.  We know where we stand in terms of those standards, and we have a public process for continuous quality improvement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excellent.


MS. HANLEY:  Go ahead.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I was encouraging you.  Thank you for that.  We’re listening and writing it down.


MS. HANLEY:  Well, it’s all really written down in here, but I did go back and update and make sure where we are today in terms of after the report because we put that out last April.  And I should say, when we put that report out last April, at that point there had never been an exercise done across public health, all the hospitals, the National Guard, all the various parties that need to work together in the event that we have another 9/11.  We need to exercise and practice in order to be ready to save lives.  On page 50 here you have something about how many hours really do matter and how many lives you’re going to save.  Is your information up to date?  Have your people practice together because when you’re trying to save lives, you’re talking a large magnitude here.


What we found, in checking back this week, is that, still, there’s never been an exercise between the California National Guard and the public health partners, and it’s not that people aren’t trying.  It’s that people are very stressed with the number of demands on them.  The public workers are working incredibly long hours to try to improve California’s public health system on a fast timeline.  The California National Guard was called to work on the fires down in San Diego, and so, at the time when the exercise was planned, they were still recuperating from that and weren’t able to participate in that exercise.  


So, first get the information so that you have public clarity about where you stand.  Second, require that people drill together across the variety of partners.  There’s government public health and then there’s all the myriad strategic partners that need to work together to make public health really functional.  That means you have to have your information systems, like the hospital association or the medical association persons, or perhaps they both said.  It’s not enough that we’re improving the communication systems between the public health agencies at the state and national and local level.  That’s great, but it’s just one step.  We need to connect the emergency rooms.  We need to connect the providers out in the community.  We’re making progress, but we need to have an ongoing public process with expert minds at the table to ensure that we can do that.


I should mention that it’s really important that the federal money get the highest level attention because, if California can’t get through the hiring freeze, can’t get an exemption for the hiring freeze, and the CDC has said, We want you to spend this money on these particular types of experts, if they can’t do that and they have to return the money to the federal government, it would be just . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ludicrous.


MS. HANLEY:  Well, very sad, but it would also establish a long-term trend; whereby, if California gets 70 million this year and say they can’t spend 8 million of it . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We have seen that frequently in a lot of the federal pots of dollars that we send back, unfortunately.  So, thank you for reiterating that.  It just doesn’t make sense.


MS. HANLEY:  This barrier in this particular case is just most glaring because there is no state match for it.  It’s just free money for California to rebuild and rebuild in the most sophisticated way possible.  Hopefully, we’ll never have to use it for any manmade negative event occurring but that it can save lives in standard public health across the board.  


For instance, you can use meta-analysis of computers to look at chronic disease patterns:  Who’s getting cancer?  Why?  What are the factors that are driving that?  If you have a large computer data system that’s collecting where people live and work and what they’re exposed to, you can then apply that information, which would be useful for any sort of emergency outbreak, also to preventing long-term chronic disease.  


These dual-use questions need to be raised at the highest level, and so, the Little Hoover Commission has endorsed the idea of having an expert advisory body to oversee public health.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you want to make two or three highlights on the report specifically before we open it up to discussion and comment?  I think that was our desire.  I know we went over on the first panel, but your report, obviously, has generated the kind of discussion that. . . . this is a bit of a preview for the series of hearings we’re going to do later on.  So, other highlights so we can move into a discussion.


MS. HANLEY:  People can read the report; they can see our recommendations.  Most people here already know what they are.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I suspect they’ve already read of them.


MS. HANLEY:  So, I didn’t just want to reiterate the sixteen recommendations that we made.  But restructuring, rebuilding the professionalism of public health and the scientific tools to update the anachronistic structure that was built for a different age, to meet the challenges of the 21st Century, those things are very top-line recommendations here.


But there was one example in the report that I just want to leave you with, and that is the critical planning element which says you have to know what’s going to happen in advance.  The FBI ran a drill in San Francisco.  I believe it was, now, about 15 months ago.  They worked with the local public health officers, the state public health officers, and they said, “The scenario is we have a smallpox case on a plane that’s landed at San Francisco International.”  There was disagreement among the state and local health officer about whether or not the passengers on that plane should be quarantined.  Now, I’m not a scientist.  I’m a public policy person.  But it’s very obvious from the top-line scientific information that is accessible to all of us that that’s a decision that should have been worked out in advance.  


You have to have a clear chain of command of who is in charge.  What we found is that because we have OES, we have EMSA, we have DHS, we have the local health jurisdictions, they’ve never been faced with challenges like this.  Let’s write down what needs to be planned and let’s practice it so that we’re not going to be learning from our mistakes during the real thing.  We can practice that in advance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I appreciate that. 


I have questions, but I want to. . . . I’m not sure of the format we intended, given our time constraints and still allowing for public comment by five o’clock, and whether there are some burning issues and questions and comments that, obviously, this panel wants to make at this point, but let me remind you that we’re all going to have an opportunity to do this again and again as we review this as the starting point of the discussion.


So, with that, let me open it up to the panelists first.  Senator Torlakson, did you want to say anything?


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  [Inaudible.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  You may begin.


DR. NAMKUNG:  I’m going to be very, very brief.


I’m here to represent the California Conference of Local Health Officers which was established by statute in 1947 to advise government at all levels on the practice of public health and is composed of all legally appointed health officers, physician health officers, in the 58 counties and three city health jurisdictions.


We most emphatically agree with Dr. Lewin on the importance of having a separate department of public health.  Hattie was absolutely right.  The department of public health in California in the past was considered a stellar institution.  Over the years the reorganization has really both hidden those stellar qualities and perhaps made it far more difficult to really practice excellent public health.


Recent experiences at the state and local level have validated the crucial importance of having the right people in the right places at the right time.  We are all familiar with the barrage of criticism that public health faced during the anthrax attacks of 2001.  Public health was perceived as indecisive, secretive, and misinformed, beginning with the secretary of HHS announcing that the first patient must have contracted anthrax from drinking dirty water from a stream.  So, at national, state, and local levels we’ve improved all aspects of our performance since that time, but the vital lesson learned, hopefully, was that it takes informed, professional physician leadership to provide the necessary expertise and credibility with the public and other health professionals.


It doesn’t make any rational sense to require that sort of structure, that structure of having a physician/local health officer direct local public health and not requiring the same at the state level.  We don’t have a state health officer who is a board-certified or board-eligible physician with practice experience in public health.  I think the lack of that kind of position and leadership at DHS has resulted in a real dearth of leadership in important medical matters that require, really, rapid response time and quick reaction, such that the counties themselves have taken a large part of that role upon themselves.  


For example, it was Santa Clara County that had the only two laboratory-confirmed SARS cases in California that actually developed that classification of pre-suspect SARS.  And they did that.  They put out guidelines, and they helped the rest of all the jurisdictions in California.  That was what a local county had to take upon itself because I think that lack of professional physician/medical leadership is buried so deeply in DHS.  It exists there, but it’s buried so deeply in the bureaucracy that DHS is no longer an agency that can react quickly under the constraints that are necessary now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Others on the Little Hoover Commission?  


Mr. Ferrero?


MR. FERRERO:  Thank you.  Dennis Ferrero again with the California Association of Public Health Lab Directors.  I’ll try to make a brief comment here.


Definitely, public health is a third part of a triad.  It was no more clear than to me personally in 2001 for several times, over thirty times, where I was onsite with FBI, fire, and local law enforcement making the decision for what was going to happen.  It was a good drill for all of us.  Hopefully, we won’t have that situation again, but it’s still out there.


I would say, basically, on the findings, we generally agree with all of those findings.  We would support strongly a separation of the department of public health out into a cabinet-level department.  We believe that we need to have an expert advice committee to help support that.  Again, I will reiterate and say this is going back to old times, but we are dealing with some old times.  Even though we have new technology, the diseases are out there and they’re very transmittal, and then we still have the same problems that we had back in the forties when that system was developed.  


I have to say that in general we agree with all of the findings.  There is one in particular that you might guess we might have some comment about.  There is a subpart about regionalizing public health laboratories further.  We would like to have some further discussion about that comment.  We feel that maybe there wasn’t sufficient testimony, but we’re totally open to discussing that further.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you will have the opportunity as we have the series of hearings.


MR. FERRERO:  Can I make a couple of quick . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, absolutely.  I just want to assure you that you’ll be able to raise that again and again and hopefully share information before then. 


You may continue.


MR. FERRERO:  Sixty jurisdictions don’t have public health laboratories.  We’ve already regionalized the laboratories in our state.  And there is no prohibition.  Just so everyone knows, there’s no prohibition of counties sharing.  We, in fact, do have expertise in certain counties where they help support other counties.  We just feel that on the service end of local government, it became very clear that those counties that didn’t have the capability of testing powders were not real happy about sending their specimens and having them transported.  The transport time would take longer than the test was going to be.  So, I think those are just some things we want to think about a little bit more and review that.


I have to say one other example is the arbovirus testing in California is basically centralized in one or two laboratories statewide.  The Public Health Laboratory Directors Association thinks that’s probably not the best way to accommodate the testing that needs to happen.  In fact, in some of the mosquito pools that were positive—the very first mosquito pools—our understanding of it is it was several days, if not weeks, past the time they were collected before they were actually tested.  We feel that if that were tested at the local lab, it would have been turned around much quicker.


So, just some comments.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Would you mind repeating your statement that there are only one or two labs statewide that can test for—which disease?


MR. FERRERO:  For West Nile virus, for mosquito pooling—mosquito pools.  Most of the public health laboratories have the knowledge and capability of doing that.  It is just the system that has been pretty much centralized.  The surveillance has been that way since the fifties.  We would propose that we try pushing that out into the network.  Local public health laboratories can do basically 95 percent of the test types that the state lab does.  Many of us do every test that is out there.  There is a need for reference from the state laboratory.  However, on a day-to-day basis, when we’re into routine kinds of sentinel surveillance, we believe that a public health laboratory has something to bring to the table for that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  


Does that mean that we also have parallel testing by the vector control districts in addition to the one or two labs statewide that test for West Nile?


MR. RUSMISEL:  There are several of the larger districts, like the ones in Sacramento and Yolo counties, that does some testing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because we have lots of rivers here and lots of mosquitoes.


MR. RUSMISEL:  Coachella Valley has laboratory capacity to do testing.  Butte County does.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s not exclusively there, though, too.


MR. RUSMISEL:  For the most part he’s quite right.  We send adult mosquitoes to UC Davis for testing.  We send chicken blood sera to Richmond, to the DHS.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And those are the two . . .


MR. RUSMISEL:  Those are the two main laboratories that get the brunt of the testing. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All of Northern California.


MR. FERRERO:  Just to be very candid, my comments that I’m making are from speaking with other district individuals who, frankly, would like sooner turnaround time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. FERRERO:  We could help out.  That’s all.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.


Did you want to make some comments?


DR. LINDSAY:  I’ll keep it short.  


The majority of the health officers polled supported a physician health officer and a separate department of public health, and I’m also in agreement with that.  I’m from a smaller jurisdiction, but our problems can be big, and I do rely on the state.  All of us do consult with the state with infectious disease experts, epidemiologists, laboratorians, and health educators.  


Really, one aspect of the Department of Health Services’ supported program I found particularly helpful has been the California Conference of Local Health Officers.  I’m a family practitioner by training.  I’ve been brought up through the ranks, and I really attribute a single staff person of that part of the department for educating me and bringing me along as a health officer.  I really can see then, through the action of the California Conference of Local Health Officers, how a separate department of public health could really stand and be a much more powerful leadership to bring all the local health jurisdictions along and coordinate.


I also just want to take the opportunity to point out that I appreciate the Little Hoover Commission report.  There was broad sentiment in the health officers that public health is more than disaster response, and I think you’ve gotten a feel for that today.  Nevertheless, we do support those particular findings.


Also, the aspect that Dr. Lewin pointed up of actually having a cabinet-level involvement would. . . . because, what’s happening now is we’re just obscured.  Public health is obscured by this monster of Department of Health Services and really have not been allowed to even develop the kind of leadership we need to.  The money is there.  Even the bioterrorism funding could be used to conduct an assessment of our local public health capacity on a statewide basis, and that has not been done.  We can use that bioterrorism money to really rationalize this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask you to wrap up because we have five minutes left.  I want public comments, so if you could, I’d appreciate it.


DR. LINDSAY:  It’s just if we move public health to the side and strengthen us, then ultimately, I think, public health has to leave the whole health system.  Right now we have a very fragmented system of services, and we really don’t reward prevention.  This is just a first step and a big change that needs to happen.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  One of the pieces that I really want to get to—and I don’t know if we have time today—but I understand Ms. Denton is here.  I don’t know if you have testimony.  I hope you do.  We still need to get to public comment, but one of the questions I would raise today, even if it’s not answered today, and it may not be reflected fully in the report—I can’t recall because it’s been a while since I read the report—is, in fact, where environmental health programs are currently spread across various departments and how they would fit into a reorganization in relation to public health.  Maybe it would be a good opener for you to do your presentation.  


And thank you.  Welcome.


DR. JOAN DENTON:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, Senator Torlakson, and staff members who are representing their committee members.  My name is Dr. Joan Denton.  I’m the director of the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, which is one of the departments within Cal/EPA.  I’m actually representing Cal/EPA today—the California Environmental Protection Agency.


I think there’s a tendency to think that environmental agencies and public health agencies are separate.  In fact, the Environmental Protection Agency in California is a public health agency.  If you look across the six boards and departments, all of us have responsibilities which bear directly on public health.  We develop risk assessments for chemical contaminants, and we aid first responders, local public health officers, and so forth, during chemical or biological spills.  The Department of Pesticide Regulation is the department that actually registers the pesticides which are used for mosquito abatement and in the case of the West Nile virus.  The State Water Resources Control Board and the Air Resources Board, both of these boards both monitor and have regulations which bear directly upon chemical contamination.  And finally, DTSC and the Integrated Waste Management Board are two departments which regulate cleanup activities.


Generally speaking, any emergency involving a biological agent will involve a chemical which is used to clean it up.  That’s really the role of Cal/EPA and the other boards and departments is the oversight, the stabilization of the area, the cleanup, deciding when the cleanup is complete, and so forth.  So, that’s really the role of the Environmental Protection Agency regulatory boards and department.


OEHHA, we have a different role.  We were actually brought out from Department of Health Services when Cal/EPA was first formed in 1991.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And there’s been recent discussion about whether. . . . I mean, obviously this is very timely.


DR. DENTON:  And we have both a public health role and an environmental role.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Whether it’s chrome VI or whether it’s low-level radioactive waste.


DR. DENTON:  Exactly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s timely to this discussion as well.


DR. DENTON:  We have a foot in both arenas, both the environment and public health.


As far as the commission report, regardless of where the responsibilities of OEHHA lie, we work very closely with the Department of Health Services.  Part of our department is in Oakland in the same building as the Department of Health Services.  Staff interact on a daily basis.  So, communication is an essential component whether it’s the day-to-day activities or it’s a first responder in an emergency—a public health threat.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I’ve always found your department and your staff to be incredibly responsive, and I thank you for that.  We don’t want to forget coordination among state functions as part of looking at a restructuring.


Had you completed your presentation?  Thank you.


Are there others on the panel?


MR. MITCHELL:  Again, William Mitchell with County Health Executives Association.  I recognize that we’re going to have many opportunities to talk about specific recommendations in the report, so I just want to take maybe sixty seconds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please do.  I don’t mean to rush you.  I just don’t want the public to think that they’re not going to have an opportunity.  We’ll run over a bit, but please go ahead.


MR. MITCHELL:  I just want to offer a few basic tenets that we feel need to be discussed in any kind of dialogue about the public health system in response to the report.  And that is, one, that public health has been underfunded for decades and that any attempts to restructure the state’s public health system without also addressing the lack of resources will have a minimum benefit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask you to repeat that very loudly?  I mean, talk about the number one reason we haven’t seen the first stage of functioning public health, whether it’s the local or state level, and then to get to this whole new stage.  Thank you for that reminder because we can’t do this with existing resources, and we certainly can’t do it simply with federal resources.  It’s going to take considerable local and state dollars.


MR. MITCHELL:  Absolutely.


Consideration should be given to restructuring within the current Department of Health Services to give public health more visibility and priority and to provide greater state-level leadership on critical public health issues.  That we examine the current program structure within the Department of Health Services for opportunities to reduce duplicative services and increase communication and integration between program areas.  And to continue and improve collaboration and communication between the state and local health departments in order to create a true partnership strategy to protect the public’s health.  And then finally, any discussion of the adequacy of the public health system must be broadened to include all core public health activities, including health information and statistics, maternal/child health, health education, chronic disease prevention, health administration, and all areas of public health.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.  We’re hoping to elevate those because they get lost in the recent debate about bioterrorism.  Thank you.  That’s where we ought to have been and should ultimately be:  preventive and focusing.


Thank you for those comments.  Had you concluded?


MR. MITCHELL:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ll have an opportunity in the future.


With that, Senator Torlakson, do you want to ask any questions of the panelists?  We’re going to go over a bit.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I have a few comments . . . [inaudible] . . . to the point of maybe hearing from the public, or however you want to do that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We wanted to encourage public comment.  Is there interest in public comment on this issue coming forward to the podium?  


Okay.  Well, gee, I reserved time.  We’re on time, and I rushed everybody.


With that, let me allow my colleague, then, to weigh in since there doesn’t appear to be public comment on this.


Please.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thanks again, Senator Ortiz, for holding this hearing and bringing together such a group of experts with the kind of focus they’ve brought to the two parts of the presentation.  


On this latter part, also wearing the hat of the chairman of the Wellness Task Force, which you also serve on, where we’re looking at the huge costs of diabetes and overweight/obesity problems and other preventable diseases, there seemed to be a lot of areas that this panel addressed where there are going to be crossover benefits.  If we do that kind of restructuring, there will be crossover benefits focusing on these areas.


As far as this panel goes, we want to thank again the Little Hoover Commission—Ms. Hanley—and all the excellent work there because one part of it, which is getting a clear voice, a loud voice, an informed voice, for public health, is the merge among all the other crises and noise and politics going on to address the kind of issues that you focused on, on this panel.  I think that’s really critical.  I know the Wellness Task Force has had some informal discussions to try to look at, as you are here, what kind of restructure would be the most effective.  


But having some state single voice and a public health officer that’s a physician, an expert, whether or not you have a health board that includes both the physician level and the nurse level and the public health master’s degree level, persons involved in that, that’s another whole question.  But having a separate public health department seems to me a good idea, and as high as you can get it in terms of the profile the better.


The other thing that Mr. Mitchell just emphasized, again, is coupling any kind of box changing or chart changing with money, and you underscored it appropriately:  finding ways to get more money in our budget, finding ways to get more federal money, and perhaps begin exploring ways that we can get some kind of authority so that counties can go about generating some of the money, just like some of their lab colleagues do or their public health protection colleagues do in the sewer and water districts.  Just thinking about that, again, you could set up some kind of a system where you could have some kind of oversight control by a public health officer on accountability and avoiding more duplication and more bureaucracy but setting up a mechanism where new tools are given to our leaders here in this arena, in the 38 labs and the various county collaboratives; that you can generate some local dollars to carry out the mission and help us close the gap on the budget.  


So, that was one of the other things that struck me, that there’s so many parallel mechanisms where local government’s been given the authority to do almost the identical kind of thing that these labs are trying to do and these public health officers are trying to do that we may be able to get some consensus around granting that authority to counties to carry this function out as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Primarily as a financing mechanism is what I think you’re reiterating.  I think that’s important.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Right.  And you could have some kind of mechanism through DHS or the new public health officer or a new public health department where there’s some kind of oversight so you don’t have duplication.  You have coordination and maximal opportunity for effective delivery of the dollars that would be collected under that kind of a system.


MS. HANLEY:  Can I address a question that you raised before?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Hold on.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  The final point was, as we’ve had this good hearing, and Ms. Hanley also emphasized this, is we don’t have the metrics, the database, and the exchange of data the way we need it.  As much as we’ve listened over these couple of hours, we really don’t know how much money is needed to close the gap.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we don’t even know where the gaps are.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Exactly.  So, as we would contemplate any new funding mechanisms, it would be very important to be able to identify where we are today to where we were a couple of years ago to what the real need is so we can justify a new authority, perhaps, of getting some money.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  My thoughts are we should be working with everybody that has been part of the panel to structure the issues in the upcoming hearings on these very issues because I don’t expect anyone to have answers on the new ideas we’re throwing out today, number one.


Number two, we’re waiting for a lot of valuable information, specifically from the RAND report, as well as I know LAO is looking at some of this as well.  So, as we go through this first step of looking at. . . . based on the Little Hoover Commission’s report, it raises new questions.  


So, I think these are all broad, big picture issues that we can come back and revisit.  This really has to be carefully thought out and carefully pursued.  The new notion of this special district funding mechanism is a new idea.  We haven’t looked at it.  It certainly sounds like a good way of doing the financing mechanism, but then it may throw in a new wrench in terms of the big picture that has been laid out on coordination.  Obviously, it would have to fit into the parameters of that as well.  But I think it’s excellent for us to look at it.


Would you like to comment on that?


MS. HANLEY:  You had said a moment ago that you thought it would possibly take more resources to do the restructuring and the rebuilding that we’re talking about.  Actually, the Little Hoover Commission . . . 


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I was recognizing that there’s a need to have new resources to close gaps, but I think as Jack Lewin said, you could probably do a revenue-neutral reorganization on that level.  Just to clarify, if I was misread on that.


MS. HANLEY:  I think that’s very important to note in this critical budgetary time that these restructuring changes that the Little Hoover Commission is recommending, they recommended to be done in a way that was in compliance with what the Department of Finance suggested to us, and that is that by combining several departments that are working on the same issue . . .


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I recognize that, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think you made your point.


MS. HANLEY:  We can do it in a cost-neutral way.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’d like to make some closing comments.  But on that point, before the closing comments, my hope would be not only as the report suggests, but we haven’t measured that assumption that it could indeed be, number one, revenue neutral.  I think we are in an era where not only are we looking at revenue neutrality, we’re looking at cost savings.  We’re further behind than we were when this report first came out.


Secondly, along with revenue neutrality and/or cost savings in this restructuring, we also have to look at a net improvement in delivery.  I know that’s envisioned and assumed in the report, but those ought to be the criteria that drive us.  And in order to get to the big picture where we ought to be, in anticipation of the huge chronic disease growth that we anticipate, we have a huge challenge ahead us, and to be able to do a truly proactive, preventive public health delivery system is a dream.  We’re at the beginning of that discussion, so it’s even bigger and greater and beyond and may have challenges that weren’t anticipated at this time.  


But we’re also in a position where we’re forced to do this.  We don’t have the luxury of not looking at this.  I fear if a decision is made simply on fiscal terms with Department of Finance or the new administration simply to dismantle for the purpose of saving short term, that we are creating an inconceivable disaster.  I mean, it’s hard to even fathom the impact on our healthcare system and on Californians if we fail to do this well.


So, I appreciate your hard work.  I appreciate the hard work of everybody who is here and has been there in the trenches.  You know, one of the things we could do politically to make you all more powerful in these chambers and in boards of supervisors’ chambers is get you guys some uniforms and some badges.  When I saw your report that public health officers are part of the public safety system, I said, “Thank God, somebody has actually put it in print.”  It’s what I said post-9/11.  It’s what I said prior to 9/11.  So, that seems to be one of the strongest themes.  


As much as you guys don’t want to have to be responding to big high-profile extreme examples and you want to go back to the really timely and necessary and ongoing needs of public health as we know them, take advantage of your standing today.  It’s one of the most powerful political weapons you probably never anticipated needing but indeed need today.


With that, let me thank you all and promise that you will all be invited back.  You will all have to do far more work as we move forward in this.  I also thank my colleague and friend.  Senator Torlakson has just been awesome in this.  I mean, for someone who just cares about issues outside of the. . . . you know, just big picture issues, he’s one of the greatest visionaries and friends and allies in this effort, so I thank him for taking the time.  Staff of the other members, thank you.


Let me just say to the public health officers—thank you for your incredible advocate here in the Legislature as your voice.  Bruce Palmer, for health officers, who has been just dogged, unfortunately—he’s driving me nuts at times—he’s been very effective, so you have a great gem in him.


Staff, thank you for the hard work.  They’re the ones that actually do all of this.


I look forward to you all coming back as we move forward.  Thank you.


This committee’s adjourned.
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